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Thursday, October 11, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Good morning, everyone.  The Panel continues to sit in EB-2017-0182, 0194, and 0364.
Preliminary Matters:


Before I ask if there are any preliminary matters, the Panel has a preliminary matter.  Mr. Warren, Mr. Garner had asked, in respect of a schedule, for station work and whether or not that could be prepared, and I think the undertaking was to make best efforts to see if that could be done.

I would like to tell you that the Panel would actually like that undertaking to be fulfilled.

MR. WARREN:  Well, Madam Chair, we never take anything that Mr. Garner says other than with religious seriousness, and it is in the process of being prepared.  It took some time, and it will be available tomorrow at the beginning of the morning.

MS. LONG:  Excellent.  Thank you very much.

Are there any other issues, Mr. Cass, Mr. Warren?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, just very quickly, one preliminary matter.  The Board is aware that Mr. Chris Russo from Charles River Associates provided some evidence for NextBridge.  Board Staff had canvassed parties as to whether anyone would have questions for him on the basis that he would be available today.  My understanding is that there will be no questions for him, but he is here today, and he will stay here today in the event that he is needed for any reason.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Warren, any preliminary matters?

MR. WARREN:  Other than the fact that I've placed on the dais the latest of the door-stopping compendia.  This is the battle of the compendia --


MS. LONG:  I see that.  I think you may have won.

[Laughter]

MR. WARREN:  That was our objective, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Okay, let's mark that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K6.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  HONI CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1.

MS. LONG:  K6.1.  Thank you.  Then, Mr. Warren, Ms. Cooper, you are free to start your cross-examination.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.
NEXTBRIDGE - PANEL 1, resumed

Aziz Brott,
Dan Mayers,
Jennifer Tidmarsh,
Becky Walding,

Erin Whillans,
David Biggar; Previously Affirmed
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Panel, in the interests of time and with thanks to Mr. Rubenstein, would it be fair for me to summarize what he was told yesterday in response to questions that the construction schedule for the East-West Tie has been compressed, but that the forecast costs remain the same?  Is that a fair summary of what he was told yesterday?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, just by way of preliminary observation, panel, is it fair for me to believe that when you file undertaking responses, interrogatory responses, you give testimony, you file pre-filed evidence, that you do so because you want, in this case this Panel, to believe it and to be persuaded by it?  Is that a fair summary?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I would like to begin with the Mumbai telephone book which I provided at tab 22, if I could, please.

This is -- do you have it, panel?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We do, yes.

MR. WARREN:  This is a response to an interrogatory filed by my friend, Mr. Buonaguro, on behalf of his client, CCC, and it was filed on the 25th of January, 2018.

And the question that was asked was:

"A), when does NextBridge require an OEB decision in order to commence construction as proposed?  And secondly, what are the implications that would arise if construction does not commence in Q4 2018?  Would a delay impact project costs?"

Now, the response is:

"A), NextBridge requires a decision approving its leave to construct from the OEB by the end of July 2018 in order to commence construction as proposed and achieve an in-service date by the end of 2020."

Have I read that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's what it says.

MR. WARREN:  And the second answer -- sorry, the answer to the second question reads:

"The construction schedule for the EWT has seasonal constraints and the anticipated cost-effective clearing..."

And I underscore the following words:

"...must commence during the winter months.  Depending on the duration of the delay beyond Q4 2018, construction clearing may have to be postponed until the next winter season (resulting in up to 12 months' delay to the in-service date and increase to costs) or be done out of season, but the latter would have..."

And I underscore the following words:

"...considerable environmental permitting impacts (cost and time delays) in addition to higher costs.  Without knowing the duration of the delay beyond the fourth quarter of 2018, it is not possible to determine the impact that any delay may have on the project costs."

Have I read that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So at the time this interrogatory was written in January of this year, so over -- just under ten months ago, that was the answer to that interrogatory, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the second item I would like you to turn up, please, is at --


MS. WALDING:  I think we can add to that, though.  Let us confer as a panel.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. TIDMARSH:  Please continue.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the second item I would like you to turn up, please, is at tab 27.  This is an excerpt from a transcript.  This is on the 27th (sic) of May of this year in the technical conference.  It is an excerpt from the transcript, and it is an exchange between Mr. Murray on behalf of Board Staff and Mr. Gill.

Beginning at page 41, Mr. Murray asks the question, line 7: 
"So, for example, if it was delayed six months or a year, what would be the cost implications?"

The answer a little further down, Mr. Gill says:

"Putting a number on that is rather difficult, and the reason for that is because it would depend on at what point the delay, to give you a broader example, if you had a delay rather early in the process, more work would be subject to that delay and therefore it would have more impact to cost."

Then a little further on after Mr. Murray asks for the worst-case scenario beginning at line 25, Mr. Gill says:

"Presumably a delay, say, before construction started would shift the schedule.  We would first have to take a look at the ways to mitigate for some schedule.  And to the extent that activities are outside of the window of the schedule that is in the contractor schedule, there are mechanisms for adjusting the costs based on labour rates, for example."

Then beginning at line 5:

"So there is a metric within the given contract period or in-service date if activities went beyond that."

And so on and so forth.

And then a little further down, beginning at line 18, again in response to a question from Mr. Murray, Mr. Gill says:

"It is extremely difficult to do, as I think everyone can appreciate.  This also has a seasonal impact to schedule.  It would be difficult to put any sense of numbers around it.  Six months, although it sounds -- it is less than a year, it often has a different impact, because you have moved off-season and certain activities are planned to have been done in given seasons."

And then finally over on page 102, when Mr. Murray asks the question:

"But there would be, in the contract, if there is a delay beyond 2020?  Am I reading that correctly?"

And then Mr. Gill says:

"Yes, so explicitly what we were trying to explain was the actual contract with Valard does not include per se escalation.  Their rates that have been provided for their price assumed the construction period.  So to the extent the construction period changes in the event of a delay and it goes out, there are references to tie it back to some of their labour agreements so that their adjustment for cost is somewhat bound to a demonstrated change in the labour rates."

Have I read those passages correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's what the transcript says during our May technical conference.

MR. WARREN:  Could I then -- excuse me, I apologize -- could I then take you to page 28 -- sorry, tab 28.  This is an excerpt from a technical conference held just nine days later, on May 16th, 2018.

And I would like to take you, please, within that transcript to pages 144 and 145.  This is an exchange, again, between Mr. Murray and this time Mr. Mayers.  
Beginning at line 3, on page 144:
"Well, obviously you may expect costs to increase, depending on how long the delay is.  We're hoping that any delays are short term, but as you stated previously, there may be impacts to our ability to work in certain areas due to some of the tree-clearing limits.  You know, there may be surveys.  There may be some resurveys that have to be done.  But, yes, I think that the cost potentially could increase.  But, you know, we also have contingency money set aside in anticipation that there may be some cost overruns due to some delays."


Then further down again, in a response from Mr. Mayers beginning at line 17:
"There is no cost target on a delay, but there is money in there, based on our current knowledge of where we stand in our estimate, that we're comfortable saying that we have some contingency available, so if we have a delay.  I mean, if you delay it a year then, no, sir, the -- you know, we probably couldn't cover that.  If you delayed it six months, it's possible, but I can't speculate at this time because I don't know what exactly the date and the time and the scenario and the impacts may be that we'd be able to work out with the MNRF or the MOECP, if indeed there were some delays and we had some permitting conditions that we would try to work through."


Page 145, Mr. Mayers, beginning at line 6:
"I'm not the contract expert, but I believe in our discussion last week the answer is yes, there would be some price escalation depending again on timing."


Mr. Murray asks at the beginning of line 10:
"Is there any way -- I appreciate that you may not be able to nail down to kind of the exact dollar in terms of the cost of the delay, but can you give some sense in terms of the order of magnitude that we're looking at, if there was a six-month delay, or if there was a one-year delay of the in-service date in terms of the costs that NextBridge would incur?"


Answer from Mr. Mayers, beginning at line 17:
"Yeah.  No, I honestly can't speculate at that time, but it would come down to negotiating with our contractor and trying to determine, you know, what the potential impacts are, you know, keeping in mind that, you know, the initial phase of this thing is clearing and the intent is to try to get in there as early as possible and in the winter, so that we can minimize impacts, but that's probably a lower-cost portion of the contract as opposed to when we're getting to the full scale couple hundred guys out there and they're wrecking towers and pulling conductor.  But we would have to determine, if you said six months, we would probably have to take an undertaking to look at the potential impact would be.  I can't answer that right now."

Have I read that transcript correctly?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I then go to the undertaking that was given, which became undertaking JT1.25 and that appears at tab 26 of the compendium, if I could take you there, please.

This is the response to the undertaking that arose from the exchange I just read between Mr. Mayers and Mr. Murray, and the undertaking was to provide an estimate of costs that NextBridge would incur from a delay of six months or one year to the in-service date.

Response:
"NextBridge expects delay costs associated with the delay of six months or even a year would be substantial, but the magnitude of the associated costs cannot be calculated without the known and specific factors that resulted in the six-month delay."


Go down to the next clause beginning with the words "cause of delay":
"Different causes will trigger different impacts and therefore costs.  For example, a six-month delay in approval of the NextBridge leave to construct may only translate into delay costs associated with specific areas of the project that were dependent on the expropriation process to gain property access where it cannot be successfully negotiated.
"Some of the cost increases may be mitigated through the construction contract by providing 'move around events' as the other areas of work can be construed as planned.  On the other hand, a six-month delay in the EA approval or subsequent MNRF permits that cause NextBridge to completely lose the 2018/2019 winter construction season will have a significantly greater cost impact, as certain areas forecast for this winter obstruction period will be delayed a year due to the seasonal restrictions (example work in the caribou zones is limited to a very small schedule window)."

Finally, on the last -- second page, the final sentence:
"Thus, while a six-month delay would result in substantial increase in cost, NextBridge cannot calculate those costs without specifically knowing the causes of such delays."


Have I read that undertaking response correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, you have, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I would like to take you to the tab 14, attachment 2, Staff interrogatory 51.  And it appears, witness panel and members of the Hearing Panel, in tab B, attachment 3.

This is a letter which --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, can you give us a moment, please, just for us to catch up?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, of course.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So you said tab B, attachment 3?

MR. WARREN:  Attachment 3, page 21 to 69.

MS. TIDMARSH:  21 to 69.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Do the witnesses have that?  You have that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is on the screen.  We're good.  We've got it, thank you, it is on the screen.

MR. WARREN:  What I am looking at, excuse me, Ms. Tidmarsh, is a copy of a letter dated the -- sorry, I missed one point.

The undertaking response was given -- that I just quoted from was dated in May of 2018.

Now, move forward to July 24th of this year.  This is a letter which you wrote to two ministers, the Honourable Greg Rickford and the Honourable Rod Phillips.

If I can take you to the second page, which is page 2269, the third full paragraph says, about halfway or a little more down the page:
"With no certainty regarding the timing and ultimate outcome of an OEB decision, NextBridge may be forced to cease work in advance of incurring those commitments, thus preventing timely completion of the project."

Have I read that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, which paragraph is that again?

MR. WARREN:  Third full paragraph on the second page of your letter.  It's about a little more than halfway down.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if I can just take you back briefly to the first tab in of the book, which is a project schedule which was filed in response to Procedural Order No. 3 in the then EB-2017-0182 case.  It was filed back in March and you set out, under the heading "critical milestones":
"OEB LTC decision order, July 2018.  Critical milestone, approval of the amended EA, October 2018, critical milestone."


And then the page over, "Engineering and construction segment A, commence clearing access Q4, 2018."


Have I read those correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I would like to take you to tab 12.  This is an undertaking response to Board Staff 49.  This was filed on the 24th of September, which is just on three weeks ago.

And in response, you were asked by Board Staff to provide an update on NextBridge's construction cost estimate and you say, panel, in response part (a):
"NextBridge has provided a construction budget that is an AACE Class 2 cost estimate.  NextBridge continues to believe it can bring the East-West Tie into service in December 2020 within this AACE international, formerly the Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering Class 2 cost estimate."


This has a plus five to plus 20 cost percent estimate, and I appreciate that you changed that number yesterday.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We didn't actually change the number. This represents the high end of cost estimate.  We erroneously did not include the lower end of the estimate and we --


MR. WARREN:  That is an accurate statement, I appreciate I didn't intend to mislead you, I knew that you changed it, changed the reference here, to provide greater clarity.  That is what I was getting at.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Clarity, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, let's go to the second paragraph.  This was filed three weeks ago:

"Any increase in the costs of construction would be a function of, one, additional environmental conditions that may need to be in place to start construction in the spring of 2018 versus the fall of 2018 as originally planned.  Two, increasing equipment and crews and/or shifts to achieve a December 2020 in-service date or as close to 2020 as possible based on receiving a decision on its leave to construct.  Three, adjustment to equipment, materials, and labour as may be impacted by the schedule, consistent with Article 4 of the EPC agreement.  And four, increased oversight of additional construction crew and/or shifts.  NextBridge expects that the construction costs will remain within the AACE construction cost estimate provided."

Have I read that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I just want to stay with that for a moment.  If we can go to the attachment, which is on page 1 of 3.

MS. TIDMARSH:  The schedule?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, the updated construction schedule.

So I had taken you to tab 1 in this brief, which was the construction schedule that was filed in March of this year in response to OEB Procedural Order No. 3.

This time we have a revised schedule, again, critical milestones, OEB LTC decision order.  This time it is December 31, 2018.  Approval of the amended EA, yes, February 2019.  And then going over two pages, commence access, 2019.  Have I read those correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I want to stay, if I can for a moment, with the footnotes to this.  If I can take you to footnote number 4, it reads:

"Construction milestones by segment are subject to renegotiation with the EPC."

I take it EPC is Valard?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is; that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  "On approval of the LTC and can be
provided to the OEB prior to construction commencement."

Now, panel, as I read that footnote, what it says is that following the Board's decision granting you leave to construct, you would negotiate with your EPC to change potentially the construction milestones.  Is that fair?  That's what the words say to me.  Is that a fair reading of that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that is a contract requirement that we have to modify our milestones.

MR. WARREN:  So I've got this right, you're asking the Board to approve your leave to construct and then you may renegotiate with your EPC contractor?  That's correct?

MR. MAYERS:  No.

MR. WARREN:  No?

MR. MAYERS:  No.  We've already agreed that 2020 -- December of 2020 is still the date.  The contractor understands that, and that is basically where we're at today.  Nothing has changed.  Nothing has changed from yesterday.  I appreciate that you read through all of this, but nothing has changed from yesterday.  We are still within our plus/minus 10 percent, and all we're saying here in this footnote is for the Board that we will change the contractual requirement, which is the milestones.  It has nothing to do with the cost.

MR. WARREN:  Well, we're going to get to that in a minute, panel, but it is a fair and accurate reading of this is that there's going to be a renegotiation of the Valard contract following the granting of LTC.  That is what it says.

MR. MAYERS:  It is actually not a renegotiation.  It will be an update to the dates that are actually set in stone once a leave to construct is actually issued.

MR. WARREN:  It not a renegotiation even though the word "renegotiation" appears in the text?  Right, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Semantics.

MR. WARREN:  Negotiation, not renegotiation.

MR. MAYERS:  Semantics.

MR. WARREN:  It says "renegotiation", right?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, you have to open up the contract to be able to go in and change the date.  So it will require new signatures.

MR. WARREN:  New signatures, new contract after leave to construct is granted.  Have I got that correctly, Mr. Mayers?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. MAYERS:  It's not a new contract.  The same contract that is going to have changed milestones.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I can just take you then to yesterday's transcript.  And do you have it in front of you, panel?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Is it in the compendium?

MR. WARREN:  It is not in the compendium.  It is a little too late for the compendium.  But the transcript of October 10th.  Can that be put on the screen?  Page 12.  Got it now?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we're still waiting for it on the screen.

MR. WARREN:  So again, context, panel.  OEB Staff 49, and to like effect is the response to my client's Interrogatory No. 12, which is at tab 4, which you don't need to turn it up.

Three weeks ago you filed an undertaking response -- sorry, you filed an interrogatory response which you have said you wanted this Panel to act on.  And in that interrogatory response you listed four factors which may change the cost of construction and that there may be changes in timing.

I am going to take you, then, to what you said yesterday, not quite three weeks after that interrogatory response.  And it says at page 12:

"Mr. Mayers:  From a construction standpoint, our contractor has a -- he's got a fully baked plan.  We had to modify that plan, you know, the dates have continued to slide, and we talk to our contractor all the time, compressing the schedule in this particular case.  Trying to keep it down to the 19 -- 18-month, 19-month time frame has been difficult."

At line 15:

"So this project kept getting further and further delayed.  We spent more time with our contractor looking at, okay, how does the seasonal adjustments take place?  Those seasonal adjustments, all of the segments for the project are laid out quite well.  The difference was we could no longer work in the areas we had anticipated work in first.  We looked at the summer schedule versus the winter schedule and made -- started making those adjustments."

Now, if I could ask you to turn over to page 21 of the transcript from yesterday.  And it says, beginning at the top of page 21, my friend Mr. Rubenstein:
"And is that going to require a change order with Valard to execute?
"No.  Now the only thing that may change would be a milestone.  There are milestones in our contract.  There will be adjustments to milestones.  Everybody has specific dates and target dates throughout their contracts, and there will need to be adjustments related to that, because we won't be starting when we had anticipated."

Have I read those segments correctly, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if you could turn up just in that context at tab 4 your response to my client's Interrogatory No. 12.  The question that was posed to you at A was:

"Please indicate whether and if so in what amount Valard's construction costs have changed as a result of delays in the construction period.  Please indicate what portion of the increase has been absorbed by Valard and how much NextBridge will seek to recover from ratepayers."

Answer:

"Valard's contract price has not changed since the contract was executed, but should NextBridge be granted a leave-to-construct approval for the East-West Tie by December 31, 2018, then NextBridge will negotiate a change order with Valard consistent with the commercial terms outlined in the NextBridge/Valard construction agreement; more specifically, Article 4, relative to a new construction schedule."

Have I read that correctly, panel?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You have.  Mr. Warren --


MR. WARREN:  Sorry?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.  If it is possible, could perhaps the panel respond to the line of questioning and some of the evidence that you have been reading out?

MR. WARREN:  I am not quite finished the line of questioning, but then you can take whatever opportunity you want.  Just let me finish my line of questioning.

That statement, "NextBridge will negotiate a change order with Valard", was filed in an interrogatory response three weeks ago.  And if I go back to page 21 of the transcript, three weeks later with your fully baked contract, there will be no change order.  Have I got that correctly, panel?

My proposition to you is that in a matter of a mere three weeks, from September 24th to October 10th, you went from needing to negotiate a change order and factors affecting the cost to a fully baked plan requiring no changes.  Have I got that timeline correctly, panel?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The timeline of the three weeks is correct, but your assumptions on what has been said and what, in fact, we will be talking to Valard about with the contract is not correct.

In fact, we have a fully baked contract, as Mr. Mayers has said.  And as part of that contract, there are milestones, and I will let him speak to that in a moment.

There are milestones that are part of it that will need to be discussed with Valard.  And in fact, the schedule that we put forward on September 24th is part of conversations that we've had with Valard, who believe that we can still make a December 2020 in-service date.

There has always been a December 2020 in-service date from the information we've received from the IESO, two needs assessments and an update, as well as the order in council.  We have always maintained that we will do our best to make a December 2020 in-service date.

And with the help of our general contractor, we will be attempting to make a December 2020 in-service date for this project.

And so the contract itself has milestones from when it was originally signed, and those will need to change, based on the new schedule that we've put together to continue to make a December 2020 in-service date.  Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Thank you first off for letting me know that I need to spend a little bit of time learning how to speak properly, but -- maybe go to a toastmasters class.

MR. WARREN:  Any help I can give you, Mr. Mayers, is free.

MR. MAYERS:  Sorry, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  Any help I can give you is free, Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Thank you.  But as far as the contract goes, we're only dealing with the milestones here.  We have no plans at this time to change any cost associated with this.

What our contractor wants is he wants date -- certain changes to be made in that contract.  We have said, and will continue to say to this Board, that our intention is to come in at plus or minus 10 percent of the cost in this fixed-price, signed EPC contract.

MR. BROTT:  I would also like to clarify some of the timing in all of the evidence that you went through, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  I had the timing; I read them from the documents.  Did I read incorrectly that the dates of the interrogatory responses and the testimony --


MR. BROTT:  No, sir.  I was going to add --


MR. CASS:  Can the witness be allowed to state what he is going to state before he is interrupted?

MR. BROTT:  I was going to add some other things that happened during that time frame.

Most of what you read was previous to May of this year. In the summer of this year and through the fall, we have undertaken a giant reconnaissance program and we have been out on most of the right-of-way.  So we have gained a lot more certainty about what was there over the summer.

Now, after discussing with Valard, I just want everyone to know here just the horsepower of our contractor, they cleared last winter 500 kilometres of right-of-way.  They cleared and prepped it.  It was 80 percent treed in Alberta.  That is how much horsepower they have.

So until we started those discussions of acceleration, there was no way -- we just did not know that they were capable of doing that, for one.

And then until basically late summer of this year, we were pushing towards a 2020 in-service date.  So there was no reason to go back and to look at what an acceleration would do.

So at the point where we realized, hey, we should go back and look at this, it was much later.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think I would also like to add there are some pieces in there you discuss about environmental permitting and so, at the time of those schedules, our environmental assessment.  So we have still -- we now have confirmation from MOECP in the letter that was filed, that was written on September 28th.  We have also had extensive discussions with the MNRF and all of our permitting.

We have done all of our field studies.  This year we will be wrapping up the end of this month all of our field studies that we will need for inputs for the permitting to begin our construction in June of 2019 to be able to meet a December 2020 in-service date.

And so since those schedules, and we have done the reassessment, and from the horsepower of our general contractor and the knowledge we have received from the ground reconnaissance and the information from MNRF and MOECP, NextBridge may be able to still make the December 2020 in-service date.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Tidmarsh, can we go back, please, to tab 4, the interrogatory response that Mr. Warren put to you, the second part of response A where it says, "The incremental costs would be a function of", and then it lists certain factors.

Can you explain that to me?  So it looks like there will be increased costs?  It's not just milestone changes, but there will be increased costs.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can talk about the first one.  So the first one is the additional environmental conditions that need to be in place to start construction.

So I mentioned we have done a lot of our field reconnaissance and our environmental studies.

However, our environmental -- your environmental assessment will include a lot of conditions and to date, we have had a lot of interaction with MOECC and generally aware of what our conditions would be.  Some of those conditions may change.

MS. LONG:  Can you move to 3 and 4?  Those look to be dependent upon a change in milestone that would lead to increased costs.  Am I reading that incorrectly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I will pass that to Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Actually, the statement does say that.  The statement opens by saying that the contract has not changed and these are possible changes that are associated with the change in seasonal shifts.

So if I have to bring in more inspectors, or if I've got bugs and bunny issues to contend with, I have to bring in the inspectors.  It is the timing of that.

Will the contractor -- you know, he may ask for cost increases on certain things.  But we also know that same cost increases potentially could have been mitigated by doing it earlier.

In other words, he was going to have to do that work at some point in time.  So we will argue and negotiate with him that it is possible that those changes, they may -- there may be some incremental cost, but we don't expect it to be large.  And we still believe everything will still fall within the plus or minus 10 percent that we mentioned.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Warren?

MR. BROTT:  Madam Chair, if I can say as well, so through our reconnaissance this week -- or not this week, this summer, we had separated out our construction segments into 11 sub-segments, and this was to help with permitting per the MNRF, and roughly half and half.  So I think we had six in the winter and five in the summer is what we had originally.

So to do this different plan that we put forth, it's only pulling about three, maybe four of those sub-segments out of the winter into the summer.  So it doesn't affect all of the work that we're changing the schedule.  It only affects some of the work.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. MAYERS:  And also -- sorry, Madam Chair -- the labour rates associated with this are locked.  They're locked through 2021.  So if there was any delay, the labour rates associated with our contract price, including any escalation, are covered by our contract.

MR. WARREN:  Can I just return to the question of chronology.  One of witnesses said we did a lot of work over the summer.

But the questions, the observations that the Chair was referring you to for your comment is in an interrogatory response filed three weeks ago, after the summer, and you listed factors which may change costs.  Correct?

MR. MAYERS:  May.  May change costs.

MR. WARREN:  Now, let's take you then to tab --


MR. BROTT:  I am not sure if there is a question in there, but I am going to try to answer it anyway.  Whether I have one crew build something over two months, or two crews build something over one month, it doesn't necessarily mean it is going to cost more.

What you are paying for is -- if there's a labour shortage and you need more crews out there, you might be paying go for extra management.  You might be paying premiums on equipment that you needed out there.  But you are not paying -- it's not like a direct doubling of what you are paying.

MR. WARREN:  Can I take you to tab 13, please, the response to Board Staff 50?  If I could take you to page 6 of 15, this is apparently an updated risk register, I guess it is.

On page 6 of 15, it's in the category of protected species habitat locations.  It says, beginning on page 5 of 15, under the updated risk likelihood:

"Increased, NextBridge has continued its field studies since filing the leave to construct and has collected more environmental data related to bats, whippoorwills, and aquatic habitat, thereby reducing risk in relation to those species' habitats.  The shift to a summer construction on clearing requirement is likely to result in increased risks of encountering nesting birds."

Am I right that in order to mitigate that you have to have additional crews and you may have to shift to another area of work; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I don't think that is fair.  There is a -- there's -- the mitigations in this talk about, we will have an extensive environmental inspection program, and so if we do end up encountering some species at risk, which anyone, any contractor probably would in the area as we go through 450 kilometres of line in some very untouched wilderness.

So we have mitigation plans, we have environmental assessment -- sorry, environmental inspectors, and we have mitigation.  So you can also see that these risks are included in our contingency.

And so at the end of this risk register we discuss, do we need to update our contingency?  And we have said, no, we don't need to update our contingency costs, because there is a lot of no change in this risk register.  So you have to look at risk as a whole, and there is a lot of reductions in risk that have happened over the past -- over the past year as we filed this environmental -- sorry, as we filed our leave to construct.

And so we haven't changed any of our contingency costs, and those risks would be contained in our contingency.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, am I right that the fully baked new construction plan is not in evidence in this proceeding?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, please repeat that, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Am I right that the new fully baked construction plan is not in evidence in this proceeding?

MS. TIDMARSH:  One moment, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, we're trying to understand what you mean by "construction plan".  We filed our -- we filed our general contractor contract, and some of the information is included in there --


MS. WALDING:  We filed milestones.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- in our schedule.  We filed a schedule.  There is a lot of -- I'm not sure what you mean by "construction plan."

MR. WARREN:  Oh, I'm only taking you up on what Mr. Mayers asserted repeatedly and forcefully yesterday, that there is -- that you have gone to your constructor and there is a new plan in place, a new construction plan, which he described as fully baked.

MS. WALDING:  That is our milestones that we have provided --


MS. TIDMARSH:  The schedule that we provided in IR 49.

MR. WARREN:  But is there a document with your constructor that reflects the new milestones?

MR. MAYERS:  No, we have not made the adjustments in any contract on any milestone dates yet.  These have been through discussions with the contractor to discuss how he would reassess his current plan, and in that reassessment he has come up with options for us to consider.

MR. WARREN:  And that reassessment is not in writing?

MR. BROTT:  To be clear, the scope of this project hasn't changed.  It is the same six segments, it is the same route, the same six sub-segment -- or 11 sub-segments, the same 1,230 towers are in the same place.  It is just a matter of shifting the milestones.

MR. WARREN:  Well, are the new milestones in place and are the mitigation measures in evidence in this hearing?

MR. BROTT:  There is a schedule that we put forward starting after spring break about next year and ending December 2020 that has been filed.

MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MR. MAYERS:  You mean June 1st.

MR. BROTT:  Which is the only difference.

MS. WALDING:  In addition, we use this contractor significantly in all of our projects, and so we have significant leverage and significant trust with this contractor of working with them.  This is not the only project we work with them on.  They have billions of dollars at risk with us and working with us.

MR. WARREN:  Can I take you to yesterday's transcript at page 13, panel.  Mr. Mayers, at line 16 -- sorry, beginning at line 13 you were asked by Mr. Rubenstein about a one-month float, and your answer was:

"No, that's not correct.  It depends.  You have to go back and look at how the contractor was going to do the construction at that time frame.  Now we have asked him to modify his construction plan."

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Warren --


MR. WARREN:  Have I read that correctly, that you've asked him to modify his construction plan?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have.  So Mr. Warren, I think what we are --


MR. WARREN:  You haven't, even though Mr. Mayers said we've asked him to modify his construction plan?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Warren, I think the panel is making it clear that there is no physical plan, and that the conversations we have had are -- we've planned with the general contractor.  We have the schedule that is in evidence.  We have discussed with the general contractor putting those milestones into their contract once we receive the leave to construct.  And that is a plan.  I think the physical plan or something that you are looking for does not exist.

MR. WARREN:  The mitigation measures.  Are the mitigation measures anywhere in evidence in this proceeding?

MS. WALDING:  We're not for sure what you are asking about mitigation measures.  Can you be more specific, please?

MR. WARREN:  You have told the panel repeatedly that there are mitigation measures in place to deal with various contingencies as they arise.

MR. BROTT:  It is in the construction environmental protection plan in the contract.  All of the mitigation measures are listed there.  And again, we were not planning to build the entire line in the winter.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.

MR. BROTT:  From the get-go we had always had segments that would be built in the summer.

MR. WARREN:  And so I have misunderstood your evidence over the last three weeks that you have changed the schedule, compressed the schedule, with new milestones and new mitigation measures?  I have misunderstood that; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So there is no new mitigation measures.  There are mitigation measures that we would use in any contract, on any job.  And those mitigation measures are already part of our contract with the EPC, with Valard.

And so we have come up with new milestones in order to make a December 2020 in-service date, but the contract itself has the same type of mitigation measures that would be used in any sort of construction.

MS. WALDING:  And I think we have been very open that we have compressed the schedule, but that doesn't mean the entire schedule.  There is just a segment of the schedule that we have adjusted.

MR. MAYERS:  Keep in mind that our contractor's had the opportunity to go out on-site.  He had his six segments.  He has gone out on-site, he's verified all of the work that is required, he has looked at all of the environmental conditions, he has looked at his access, he has a complete access plan.  Now all we're asking him to do is revise it and move some segments around so that he can begin work at different times.

We have not asked him to go back and completely redo a schedule at this point in time.  We have asked him if these milestones will work.  His answer was, yes, they will work. How he goes about doing that, we have not come to some final agreement on at this point, but we will.

MR. WARREN:  See, Mr. Mayers, in answering, giving the commentary you just gave, you said you've asked the contractor to revise it.  Revise --


MR. MAYERS:  I have asked the contractor to go back and look at his schedule and tell us, if you have to do work in the summer, how does that impact you and whether or not the segments that you originally wanted to do would be affected.  And his response back to us is, "I can do the work.  I can move to the segments that are necessary to start in the summer, beginning in June 1st, and I can still meet the December 2020 in-service date."


MR. WARREN:  So you have asked him to revise it and, in your words, to move the segments around.  Is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  We have asked him to look at what happens if we have to compress and to move the dates from starting in June, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Are the new dates for the segments and related mitigation measures anywhere in evidence in this hearing?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, they are in our milestones, so that is reflected in our milestones.

MR. WARREN:  Even though he's moved the segments around at your request?

MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. WARREN:  Where are they, the moved segments?

MS. WALDING:  The detail of the segments are not in there, but the high-level milestones are.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if, for example, one of the parties or, more importantly, this panel wanted to look at the segments and the mitigation measures to see whether or not they were reasonable, where would they look for the new moved segments?

MS. WALDING:  The mitigation measures are in the contract, and we could provide the segments, if you would like.

MR. WARREN:  Where would they look for the new moved segments, panel?

MS. WALDING:  They would look at the milestones.

MR. MAYERS:  They would look at the milestones; that is all we have at this point in time.  We have not revised any contract milestone dates.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. MAYERS:  The milestones we are talking about are what we have filed beginning in June.

MS. WALDING:  And they're of a similar level that Hydro One has provided as well.

MR. WARREN:  Can I take you back to tab 12, and it's the response to -- sorry, I apologize, moving laterally for a moment.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Warren, did you ask for those milestones?  Is that your plan, to ask for those mitigation measures and new milestones?

MR. WARREN:  I wasn't planning to ask for them, if they're not in the record.

The issue for my client -- and, I would argue, ultimately for the panel -- is there some way we can objectively verify whether or not these milestones are workable.

And in the absence of those, you had asked that you didn't want undertakings and when they be given, it of course would be helpful if we had the revised segments.  But because we're on the penultimate day of this hearing --


MS. LONG:  No, I recognize it is not ideal.  But are you able to speak to them at all, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Could we talk to the contractor?  Yes.

MS. LONG:  No, are you able to provide us any more detail in your evidence here today?

MR. MAYERS:  No.  This is an EPC contract.  I mean, we will discuss with him and confirm that what he wants to do -- now he's looked at it.  He has looked at his environmental condition.  He looked at his access.  He has looked at the land that is available in those areas, because we have all of that information, and he has come up with a revised plan.

Am I able to talk to specifics?  No, ma'am.

MR. BROTT:  Madam Chair, are you talking about just the schedule part, the milestone schedule that we have been talking about here?

MS. LONG:  Well, I mean I think the panel understands there is a milestone schedule.  We understand that you have spoken to your contractor, and you've said to your contractor if you need to start in June and you need to hit the December 2020 deadline, your contractor has said yes.

But I guess I am wondering with respect to any specifics you have around how that would be achieved; we don't have that on the record.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Can I confer with the panel for one moment?

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. TIDMARSH:  So we are actually able to get to more of a granular -- sorry, I lost my page -- more of granular detail on when we're starting in each segment, where each segment might be of the six segments and 11 subsections.

Mr. Brott can actually speak to when we would be starting on which dates.

MS. LONG:  Let me ask you this question: Is it going to increase the cost of the contract?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  This schedule is a roll-up of those milestones and in discussions we've had, we're still plus or minus 10 percent of our AACE Class 2 estimate.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  But there is a new schedule?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The one that is right here, yes, the one that is in IR 49.  Staff IR 49 is the new schedule.

MR. WARREN:  This is the one the contractor had been asked to revise?

MS. TIDMARSH:  This is the product of a conversation with the contractor, and we have revised it.  And the much more granular detail, Mr. Brott can speak to, talking about which one we would start in which segments, which segments we would move from summer to winter, that type of thing.

MS. WALDING:  And that is what we were trying to communicate to you, Mr. Warren, is that schedule in Staff 49 is based off of the conversations with the contractor.

MR. WARREN:  Am I right, panel, that there is no one from the contractor, no one from Valard who is here to testify?  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We saw no reason to have someone from Valard here.  Our chief engineer and our construction people can speak very eloquently to the contract.  They have done this quite a lot.  They have quite a lot of experience in building transmission lines.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can I just interrupt for a moment, just to understand?

When you are speaking with respect to costs and you're saying that the costs are accommodated within the contract, you're using two terms.  One is it's within your contingency, and the other is plus or minus 10 percent.

When we're talking about these revisions, which category does that fall under?  Or are they both the same?  Is it really the same category expressed in another way?

You have, for example, in Exhibit K4.2, a contingency amount of about $50 million, and then you are talking about an estimate of plus or minus 10 percent.

Are those two synonymous or -- and in this case, which part of the contract price that this falls within are you expressing that it falls within the contract?

MR. MAYERS:  So the 737 is the total construction anticipated for the project, and what we're saying is that the plus-minus applies to the 737.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MAYERS:  And the 737 is inclusive of all of the contingency.

MS. WALDING:  So they're two different things.

MR. BROTT:  Right.  Then the plus or minus 10 percent, I think, would be called a management reserve.  So it would be above the 737.

So for example, if we were to do -- if we were to do bird surveys, which we would need more bird surveys in the summer, and one of the environmental inspectors found a nest in a tree and to make the example extreme, they found an eagle's nest you had to make a mile circle around the eagle's nest and you weren't allowed to clear for an entire mile of right-of-way -- say it was right in the middle of your right-of-way, then you would have to skip that part.

Now that is an unknown unknown at this point. So we don't know if there's an eagle that is going to put a nest right in the middle of our right-of-way.  So that would fall in the 10 percent because it is an unknown unknown.

But the environmental inspector's cost being out there, we know that is going to happen. So that is a known known, so that would come out of the contingency, if that explains it.

MR. MAYERS:  Although for clarity, there are no eagle's nests within our right-of-way.

MR. JANIGAN:  So when we're talking about the no cost to the revised plan, it is within that 10 percent that you are talking about --


MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- for the 737?

MR. BROTT:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Janigan will no doubt be pleased Mr. Rumsfeld is back in town with his "known unknowns."

If I can take you, panel, to tab 11, this is a response to NextBridge tab 48.

And the question that was asked was:
"Does NextBridge agree that the successful proponent should be granted LTC approval subject to a condition that the construction commences by a specific date ..."

MS. LONG:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, we can't hear you.  Can you speak closer to your mic?

MR. WARREN:  The question that was asked was:
"Does NextBridge agree that the successful proponent should be granted LTC approval subject to a condition that the construction commences by a specific date, for example one year from LTC approval?  If so, what should that time period be in NextBridge's view?"

And the answer is: 
"Yes.  The IESO continues to recommend that an in-service date for the East-West Tie line project should be 2020.  NextBridge may be able to bring the East-West Tie line in service by the end of 2020 (starting construction in June of 2019) assuming that the OEB grants leave to construct by the end of the year and that NextBridge has its environmental assessment by February 2019.  Therefore, if leave to construct is issued by the end of this year, NextBridge believes that the OEB should condition approval of the transmission line and station work for the East-West Tie to commence construction in a date range that is reasonable to work towards the 2020 in-service date.  Weather conditions in north-western Ontario suggest a range of several months around this date should be selected, since the exact date of construction commencement is weather-dependent."

Have I read that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  So we have the baked-in construction contract with revised times, and we're now told, three weeks ago, that the timelines may be weather-dependent.  Have I read that correctly?

MS. WALDING:  And that was in the commencement.  And so the reference was, the start of construction.  So if the OEB would like to have a date that says you have to start construction -- the wording there is around the beginning and having a range of dates to begin.

MR. BROTT:  Our plan is to start after spring breakup.  So depending on the winter, spring breakup could come earlier or later.  That is really what that is saying.

MR. MAYERS:  If it's a warmer winter it is possible that we could start earlier.  It will be dependent upon the municipalities and their agreement to allow Valard to move heavy equipment on the roads.  There is always a big concern about spring thaw and any damage to roads.

MR. WARREN:  And any changes as a result of weather schedules may result in changes in the contractor's timeline, the mitigation measures, and costs.  Is that not fair?

MR. BROTT:  That is fair.  And I will go a step further.  When we're building over one winter, like we're doing here, there is added risk to that.  But we feel confident, as I have explained earlier.  Valard has a lot of horsepower, and they've cleared 500 kilometres of right-of-way.  I am not sure if anybody can wrap their heads around that, but that is a lot of right-of-way to clear and prep in one winter season.  They have a lot of horsepower so, we're very confident we can get this done by 2020.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And for clarity, your third assumption about it changing mitigation measures and planned cost, NextBridge still maintains that with this weather, with any of the weather uncertainty for the commencement of the project or the weather in general, it is in our risk register.  It is part of our contingencies that we are still able to bring the project into service in our plus or minus 10 percent of our 737.

MR. WARREN:  Just in that context, can I take you back to tab 12, which is the response to Staff 49.  Second paragraph of the response:

"Any increase in the cost of construction would be a function of, one, additional environmental conditions that may need to be in place to start construction in the spring of 2019 versus the fall of 2018 as originally planned."

What are those additional environmental conditions and what is the cost implications of them?  What are the cost implications of them?

MR. BROTT:  I think I gave a good example earlier of the environmental -- additional environmental inspectors out doing bird-sweep surveys looking for nests.  There is also bats on the line as well.  Those are additional costs that would have to come out of our contingency.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And, sorry, if I may.  So the condition here, what we're actually referencing is our environmental assessment.  So as part of our environmental assessment, which we will receive approval for in February of 2019, there is a commitment list, and conditions is part of that, and we have been working extensively with MOECC and MNRF to determine the types of conditions that would be part of our environmental assessment.

And so at this time, we have a good understanding of what those commitments might be.  However, we have an unknown-unknown of if there is any extra conditions that would be part of our environmental assessment that NextBridge would be -- would have to adhere to, and so we have included that as our unknown number, since we are not in possession of our environmental assessment as yet.

MR. WARREN:  I thought that this first item referred to -- not to your environmental assessment writ large, but to changes in the construction period, spring of 2019 to the fall of 2018.  That is a different matter, isn't it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, it is part of our environmental assessment.  What is included in our environmental assessment is detailed project plans.  So lots of detail that comes from our general contractor, lots of detail about all of the segments that Mr. Brott referenced.

And so the MOECC could then -- we have let them know this new schedule.  The MOECC could then determine there may be conditions based on doing some of the work in different seasons.

However, we have mitigated this by completing a lot of our -- or all of our field work before the end of this month.  So...

MR. WARREN:  Item 2:

"Increasing equipment and crews in order to achieve a December 2020 in-service date or as close to 2020 as possible on receiving a decision on its leave to construct."

Do you have estimates of what those increasing equipment and crews and shifts will cost?

MR. MAYERS:  Not at this time, we do not.

MR. WARREN:  And item 3:

"Adjustment to equipment, materials, and labour as may be impacted by the schedule consistent with Article 4 of the EPC agreement."

Do you have that estimate of what those costs will be?

MR. MAYERS:  No, not at this time.

MR. WARREN:  And finally, the fourth item:

"Increased oversight of additional construction crews or shifts."

Do you have an estimate of what those costs would be?

MR. MAYERS:  No, we do not.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So for clarity, if I may.  Those four conditions relate to the plus or minus 10 percent of the project.  So these would be, as I mentioned, still coming in in our AACE Class 2, plus or minus 10 percent.  These four conditions are part of that project -- project costs.

MR. WARREN:  What bothers me about that answer, panel, is that you don't know what the costs are but you are confident that they will be less than 10 percent increase.  How do you know that, if you haven't estimated the costs?

MR. MAYERS:  Because we have spent time with the contractor and discussed the potential to have to move around, to make the changes necessary to start this project in June.

MR. BROTT:  And because we're so advanced in our planning.

MS. WALDING:  And our environmental assessment, we're so advanced.  We are much more advanced than Hydro One to know all of these conditions and have a good frame of reference of where we're going to be and to not have the government and regulatory changes in our contract that are subject to the SNC-Lavalin contract.

MR. BROTT:  I just want to make the point again.  Our scope has not changed.  It is the same route.  It is the same towers.  It is the same access plan that we have been out and done reconnaissance on.  That has not changed.  It is just the timing of it.

MR. WARREN:  Again, I come back finally before I leave this point, panel.  You said there were constructions with -- discussions with your contractor about shifts in schedule and additional costs.  The outcome of those discussions is nowhere in evidence in this case; is that fair?

MS. WALDING:  Was there a question for us?

MR. WARREN:  The outcome of the discussions about changes in schedule and the revised costs and the discussions with the contractors, those are nowhere in evidence in this case.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the outcomes are actually the schedule.  So the outcome of those conversations is the schedule.  The outcome of those conversations is us maintaining our plus or minus 10 percent on our cost estimate.

MR. WARREN:  Can I take you to -- back to tab 12, which is your response to... [off-mic] ...and just finally two points.  In the revised schedule, you've got on page 3 of 3... [off-mic] ... November 2020.

Now, the unchallenged evidence in this case, panel, is that as a result of what the MECP has told HONI, the construction of the stations did not begin as required in 2018, and therefore they can't meet a 2020 commissioning date.  It is 2021.  And the evidence which I will take you to in a moment is that NextBridge has known this for several months.

So in light of that, A, I am puzzled why you would put HONI substations commissioned in November of 2020 when you know that will not be the case.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, when you don't look at me when you speak I can't understand what you are saying.

MS. WALDING:  Can you speak up into the microphone?

MR. WARREN:  It says here that HONI substations will be commissioned in 2020.  And you know, Ms. Tidmarsh, that they won't be commissioned in 2020 as a result of the MECP saying that the EAs for the two projects are linked.

So I am puzzled why it is you would put HONI substations commissioned in November 2020, when you know that that is not going to be the case.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Actually, you mentioned before it was unchallenged.  I would like to challenge that, that I knew that --


MR. WARREN:  Bear with me.  It wasn't challenged when my client's witnesses were in the box.  Right?  Mr. Cass asked them to confirm that.  They confirmed the dates.  He didn't challenge the dates.  That is why I say it was unchallenged.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge did not know until the filing of the interrogatories on September 24th that the new in-service date for the schedule for the substations would be December 2021.

I was part of the -- there was a letter that was written to MECP that talked about the potential for the substations not coming into service to meet the 2020 in-service date.  The letter was not to NextBridge, and it discussed the need to have a meeting.

There was a meeting that occurred and as part of that meeting, a schedule was presented that had a 2020 in-service date for the station work.

Conversations were had by MECP and Hydro One at the time.  Hydro One was unable to tell them what the new schedule would be.  MECP -- and MECP will be here on Friday.  MECP had asked, would there be an ability to compress any of that schedule to be able to still make a December 2020.  At that point, Hydro One representatives said they needed to go back to their project group and confirm.

After that point in time, NextBridge was part of no conversations that indicated that the station work would not be ready for December 2020.

MR. WARREN:  Can I take you, panel, while we're on this subject, to tab 33 of the materials?

This is a letter dated the 27th of June, written by Ms. Croll to Mira Majerovich of the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change.

MS. TIDMARSH:  For clarity, we are looking at attachment 30, page 1 of 3?

MR. WARREN:  That's right, yes, I'm sorry.

MS. WALDING:  What was the tab number?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is on 33.

MR. WARREN:  Tab 33.  This is a letter that Ms. Croll wrote on June 27th of 2018 to the MECP.  Have I got that right?  Not Parks?

So Ms. Croll says in the penultimate paragraph on the first page, and I quote:
"The station work requires lead time prior to construction of the timeline, but without the ability to obtain further permits and approvals, the station work will not be completed in time to support the East-West Tie's proposed 2020 in-service date."

Have I read that correctly, panel?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You have, yes.  But if I may?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, one last question before you get to that.  And when I turn over the page, one of people copied on that letter is Jennifer Tidmarsh, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  And on that same page, at the top there:
"Hydro One has already notified NextBridge of our understanding of your e-mail referred to above and what we understand to be the effect of the EA station work.  But more detailed discussion and evaluation will be required.  Also, discussion of possible schedule implications with the OEB may be required."

To date we have not had those discussions.  And for clarity, I think that the environmental assessment and the leave to construct are just as important as one another in beginning project work.

So in order to have -- to begin construction, you need both of those things.  And so without the leave to construct for the station work, Hydro One was also not able to begin on July of 2018.

MR. WARREN:  I am going to suggest to you, Ms. Tidmarsh, that in the letter of June 27th from Ms. Croll to the ministry, which you were copied on, it cannot be made any clearer that the station work will not be completed in time to support the East-West Tie's proposed 2020 in- service date.  It cannot be any clearer than that.  Fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I --


MR. MAYERS:  Yes, but at the same time, there has been no official in-service date change on this project.  So it is incumbent upon HONI to try to meet those dates.

And we believe, after looking at the schedule that's been provided in a meeting that Ms. Tidmarsh was in, that there is a lot of fat in that schedule and that if HONI really wanted to press and get this work done, and be challenging their team to get the work done, that they could get this work done in a much shorter time frame than they're currently showing.

We do projects like this all the time, much bigger projects than this.  We're doing one right now in south Florida.  I understand it's not northwest Ontario, but we're building a line that has two 230 kV lines, six 138 kV lines, two auto transformers; it is a massive transmission substation.  And from start to finish, it is taking us nine months.

So I don't understand why it is going to take HONI over two years to complete this project work.

MR. WARREN:  Were you here for the balance, for the original part of this hearing, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  I was here for most of the hearing.

MR. WARREN:  During the course of the hearing, we had Mr. Spencer and Mr. Karunakaran from SNC on the stand, right?  And none of the questions -- none of the propositions which you have just advanced about HONI's capacity to work faster on the stations, none of that was put to that witness panel by your counsel, was it?

They were given no opportunity to respond –-


MR. MAYERS:  I wasn't here that day, so I can't answer that.

MR. WARREN:  -- to those suggestions, were they, panel?

MS. WALDING:  We would have to read the record to see that.  We weren't here for the whole thing.  We would have to go back and read the record.

MR. WARREN:  Can you take it, subject to check, your counsel never asked questions about the construction of the stations when the witnesses were on the stand?

MS. WALDING:  And what is the point of that?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I really don't know where this is going.  Mr. Warren can make arguments like that at the conclusion of this case, if that is what he wants to argue.  It will be apparent from the transcript what questions were asked and what was said.

I don't know why he has to argue with the witnesses about what was or was not on the transcript, particularly when they've said they weren't here for all of the testimony.

MR. WARREN:  It is just a matter of fundamental fairness.  We get the gratuitous suggestions from Mr. Mayers yesterday and again today that somehow HONI's schedule for construction is slow and could be speeded up.

Ancient law, which I am sure Mr. Cass is familiar, dictates that if you are going to make those kinds of assertions, you have to put them to the witnesses so that they can respond to them.

And my point simply is that none of these gratuitous assertions by Mr. Mayers were put to the witnesses when they were on the stand.  So there is no evidence in this case in support of what it is he's saying.  It is just a matter of elementary fairness, that's all.

MR. CASS:  Right, that is entirely an argument, Madam Chair, that is open to Mr. Warren to make those arguments at the conclusion of this case.  I don't think it is appropriate to argue that with the witnesses.

MS. LONG:  I think you've both made your points and we are aware of what your positions are, so I think we can move on.

MR. WARREN:  Staying with tab 33, can I take you to -- we have just had the letter which Ms. Tidmarsh was given notice about not being able to meet the 2020 in-service date.

Can I take you to the next page, which is a copy of an e-mail from the MOECP which says:
"In addition, please note any class environmental assessment work undertaken with respect to NextBridge's individual environmental assessment can be undertaken.  However, any subsequent permits and/or approvals that are required for the project cannot be obtained until the undertaking has approval under the Environmental Assessment Act.  Because these two projects are connected, we cannot move forward with class EA permits and approvals before the IEA decision is complete.  We ask that Hydro One Inc. please refrain from submitting any approval permit or approval applications to MNRF or MOECC for the interim."


MS. TIDMARSH:  Could I ask, when was this letter filed?

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry?

MS. TIDMARSH:  This e-mail, when was this e-mail put into evidence?

MR. WARREN:  It is in evidence now.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So it wasn't part of any of the interrogatories of September 24th?

MR. WARREN:  No -- actually, it was.  Sorry, it was. It was attached to one of the e-mails that Ms. Croll sent.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So on September 24th, this e-mail was released to NextBridge.

MS. WALDING:  Can you give us the reference?

MR. WARREN:  I will at the break, where it is found in the evidence.

So is it your position that notwithstanding the Hydro One letter of the 27th of June, that you were not aware that the Ministry would not allow the stations work to proceed before the NextBridge EA was approved?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if this e-mail was disclosed on September 24th, which is the date that I learned that the station work wouldn't be available until December 2021, then I was not privy to this e-mail until that date.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I don't know when your intention is to take a break --


MS. LONG:  I think now would be a good time.  We will break for 20 minutes, please.
--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Ms. Tidmarsh, I will move on to other topics, but just before we leave the last one, if I could ask you to return to tab 33, three-zero, page 1 of 3.

You asked, Ms. Tidmarsh, whether or not the e-mail from Ms. Majerovich was in evidence, and I want to take you to the letter from Ms. Croll of June 27th.  It says:

"Thank you for your recent e-mail regarding Marathon TS Expansion Class Environmental Assessment."


In that correspondence you stated the following:
"Please note any Class Environmental Assessment work undertaken with respect to the NextBridge individual environmental assessment can be undertaken; however, any subsequent permits and approvals that are required for the project cannot be obtained until the undertaking has approval under the Environmental Assessment Act.
"Because these two projects are connected, we cannot move forward with the Class EA permits and approvals before the IEA decision is complete.  We ask that Hydro One Inc. please refrain from submitting any permit and approval applications to MNRF and/or MOECC for the interim."

So the e-mail was quoted in the letter that was sent to you on June 27th.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, I can see that.  I can also see that it is discussing that the two projects are connected, but I would like to be clear that this letter -- NextBridge should not take this as an indication at all that the station work would not be ready until December 2021 on this project.

MR. WARREN:  Did you, upon receipt of this letter, contact Ms. Croll and say -- ask what the implications of the MOEC -- MECP's position was?  Did you follow up with her?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we did.  We had a coffee and we had a conversation.  We decided that it was best for us to have a joint meeting with MECP and talk about ways that we could potentially mitigate schedule changes.

MR. WARREN:  You had that meeting with the MECP, I believe, in the last week of July 2018?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's the date.

MR. WARREN:  And at that meeting the MECP reiterated its position that it would not grant any permits to allow the station work to continue.  Is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Not until the approval of the Environmental -- NextBridge's individual environmental assessment.

MR. WARREN:  My last question in this context is, Hydro One takes the position that as a result of the MECP's position that it can't -- it couldn't commence the station work in the summer of 2018 and therefore can't complete it before 2021.

Would it be NextBridge's intention to, if it receives leave to construct, to build the line and let it sit idle until the station's work is completed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge, again, is unaware of the details of any of the station work and how those stations will proceed.  I believe there is an undertaking that there will be three schedules that will be produced for the station work.

And so NextBridge has put together its schedule for a December 2020 in-service date, which is part of this evidence, and so until we knew on September the 24th when the interrogatory was filed that December 2021 was the date -- however, Mr. Spencer did say yesterday he was challenging the team to find out if there was a way to compress those schedules.  I believe the work is not done by SNC.  It is done by Hydro One themselves.

And so NextBridge does not have enough information to determine if, in fact, the station work can't be ready by December 2020.

MR. WARREN:  I am asking you, the evidence of Hydro One is that it can't be ready.  On that assumption, would it be the intention of NextBridge to build the line and let it sit idle until the station's work is completed?  Yes or no?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't make an assumption on a hypothetical question that I don't have enough information to determine the veracity of.

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to turn up tab 16, which is a response to Staff tab 54.  This deals with your operation and maintenance spending.  Now, for purposes of emergency response -- first of all, how many -- will NextBridge have a facility in northwestern Ontario?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I will pass those questions on to Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, they will.  The plan is to have it in Thunder Bay.

MR. WARREN:  In Thunder Bay.  And there will be two employees there?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And those two employees will be responsible for emergency response on the 400-kilometre line?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And other than the two employees in northwestern Ontario, are there any other NextBridge employees or facilities in northwestern Ontario?

MR. MAYERS:  No employees.  There are employees that support our wind projects in the southeast Ontario area.  We have employees in Alberta supporting a wind project there as well.

But we will have contractors supporting this project.  We will have contracts in place.  We are currently -- we're in negotiations with Valard as well.  They have a work force in Manitoba, and we're also working with West Air on a helicopter contract.  We are working with Celtic Power, potentially.  We haven't signed any agreements, but we are working on an overall restoration plan, and we will have that in place prior to the completion of the project.

MR. WARREN:  If I look at page 2 of 5 of this interrogatory response, I see that there is an amount of $54,000 allocated for personnel who will monitor the performance of the overhead transmission line and coordinate outages with HONI and IESO.

So that is the -- for the employee -- for the two employees who will be stationed in Thunder Bay?

MR. MAYERS:  No, that is not.  Those are the personnel that are going to monitor this project, they're going to monitor out of one of our affiliates, energy control centre.  And these are the costs that will be spread across those individuals' time.  You don't need full-time people just watching over one line.  So we are going to have support staff within our Lone Star facility whose time will be charged as they monitor this 24/7, 365.

MR. WARREN:  Lone Star facility's in Texas?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, it is.

MR. WARREN:  So there will be two people who will be based in Thunder Bay, and their function will be what?

MR. MAYERS:  Their function is to -- on the day-to-day is the vegetation management support, line inspection support.  They're setting up, you know, the tree-trimming requirements.  They will be working with contractors to ensure that the right-of-way is kept clean.  They will be doing annual inspections with support staff from either -- one of our contractors, potentially with the Aboriginal communities, supporting the vegetation management.  There will be annual inspections that will be done on the line.  And from those inspections, a determination will be made as to what type of vegetation work needs to be done.  There will be inspections of the line, the structures, the foundations, the guying.  They will be looking at insulators.  These are typical inspections that are done.  They will be done on an annual basis.

MR. WARREN:  And two people are going to do all of those things?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.  We run lean.

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to take a look at --


MR. MAYERS:  It is two people that will oversee multiple contractors that are going to be supporting this effort.  I just want to make that very clear.

MR. WARREN:  Have those contracts been let yet?

MR. MAYERS:  No, they have not, as I stated previously.

MR. WARREN:  Do we know the costs of those contracts?

MR. MAYERS:  Do I know the...

MR. WARREN:  Costs of the contracts.

MR. MAYERS:  No, we do not.  We have a ballpark based on our historical performance for work that's been done in northern -- in southern Ontario, as well as work that's been done in North Dakota, Minnesota, and South Dakota.

MR. WARREN:  I don't know, panel, that you need to turn this up, because my friend Mr. Rubenstein dealt with the numbers yesterday.  But my recollection is that the spending to date on this project for both development and construction costs is in the order of $70 million; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So our development costs are $40 million and the suspend -- sorry, the spend at the end of September is $34 million.  So 74 million.

MR. WARREN:  And it is your intention to seek recovery of those amounts, regardless of whether or not you are granted leave to construct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge has been spending on this project in order to ensure a December 2020 in-service date.  And so to progress that project, to progress this project to ensure we make it to a December 2020 in-service date, we will be applying for recovery of those costs, subject obviously to the Board's prudence review.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I want to deal briefly with the question of the amount spent on construction costs in the last -- from May of this year.  My recollection is that the number is $12 million, is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Recollection from testimony, or from evidence?

MR. WARREN:  One or the other, Ms. Tidmarsh.  I don't remember where I got it from.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I wanted to confirm, subject to check.  I can't confirm where the numbers come from. I would like to be able to see it.

MR. WARREN:  Subject to check, it is $12 million.  Actually, if you turn up tab 17, this is a response to Board Staff interrogatory 55.

To give you some comfort, I don't pull these numbers out of the ether.  This has your actual construction costs from May 1 to August 31, and the construction costs there are $18 million.  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You said tab 17?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.  Tab 17 is a response to Board Staff interrogatory 55.

MS. TIDMARSH:  It's fine.  We can see it on the screen, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And that is the end of August, and the amount spent since the end of August is how much on construction costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So on this, the amount spent on construction costs to the end of August is $11.9 million.

MR. WARREN:  Now, that $11.9 million has been spent in the categories of engineering, design procurement.  What is included in those categories?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can pass that on to Mr. Mayers and Ms. Walding, who can support.

MR. MAYERS:  So the -- yes the engineering portion is the continuation of the support from Valard, our contractor.  He is -- they had to complete the environmental reviews with the land and environmental teams.  They had to review the access support that's been ongoing that we just completed.

It includes some foundation design engineering work, and gearing up for some geo-technical engineering support, and including the field reconnaissance that has been completed, as I've stated.

MR. WARREN:  And those amounts, Mr. Mayers, were spent without leave to construct approval and without any approval from this Board, is that right?

MR. MAYERS:  In our effort to pull this in-service date of December 2020, which we believed all along was necessary, yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would agree NextBridge has put a lot at risk to ensure that this project has been advanced to enable it to make a December 2020 date, which, again, all indications from the IESO and from the Ministry of Energy and its order in council has shown is the needed date for this in-service.

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you on the subject briefly of Indigenous relations, if I could ask you to turn up Board Staff 54 which is at tab 16.  If I have the wrong tab, I apologize.

My understanding -- and correct me if I'm wrong -- is that you have reached -- have you reached an equity participation agreement with BLP?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And the extent of the equity participation is 20 percent, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is.

MR. WARREN:  And how is that being funded?  Is BLP funding that, or is NextBridge funding that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  BLP will be investing into the East-West Tie.

MR. WARREN:  And will there be a loan from NextBridge to BLP to fund that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They will be using the Aboriginal Loan Guarantee Program.

MR. WARREN:  And with respect to the issue of crossing fees, for -- crossing fees are required for two Indigenous groups, Michipicoten and Pays Plat, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Have the terms of the amounts of the crossing fees been agreed to?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, and they're reflected in our operations budget.

MR. WARREN:  How much are the operations fees that are paid to each?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That is confidential.

MR. WARREN:  You have to apply for -- to INAC for a section 28.2 permit.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And is there a reason why the amount paid for those crossing fees would be confidential?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We haven't yet finished our negotiations.  We have reached the quantum.  However, we still need to finish our negotiations with those two communities, those commercial agreements.

MR. WARREN:  You will seek recovery of those amounts from this Board, and therefore from Ontario's ratepayers, is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  At our rate case when our operations and maintenance budget is up for discussion, yes, we will seek recovery.

MR. WARREN:  But you are unwilling to disclose those amounts now?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Not at this time.  Like I mentioned, our arrangements have yet to be finalized.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  However, the quantums are known and we have built those into our budget.

MR. WARREN:  The quantums are known, but they're built into the budget.  Where would I find them in the budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So they are on page 4 of 5, in the annual activity list.  There is a table there and you will see Indigenous costs for land and participation.

MR. WARREN:  It's a million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  That includes more than just the reserve crossings.

MR. WARREN:  What is Indigenous cost?  What does the million dollars cover?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So it is the 28-2 permit fees are included in there.  Also, Mr. Mayers mentioned there would be some support for Indigenous communities in our operations and maintenance, thank you, vegetation maintenance, et cetera.

MR. WARREN:  So I take it that we can conclude from that that the amounts paid to Michipicoten, for example, don't exceed a million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  This number is cumulative for Michipicoten, for Pays Plat, and for other items.  So, yes, it does not exceed $1 million.

MR. WARREN:  Can you provide a break out of what the amounts are within the million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I just verbally mentioned that it would be the two 28.2 crossings.  There is also some participation funding in there for vegetation management.  There is some funding in there for some training.

That's what is included in there.  They're not solely 28.2 permit fees.

MR. WARREN:  I want to deal briefly with the question of the amounts at risk.  You've said there's substantial amounts at risk and, in point of fact, it is about $52 million that is at risk.  Is that correct?

You were approved for $22 million in the designation proceeding.  You have spent, I think you've said, 74 or thereabouts?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  So I make it that there's $52 million roughly at risk.  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That NextBridge has put up to advance this project, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Has the amount of the risk and the nature of the risk been presented to your senior management or board of directors?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It has, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Is that anywhere in the record?  Because I can't find it in the materials that you filed in terms of reports to your board of directors or your senior management.

MS. TIDMARSH:  You can see it actually in our board of directors -- in our cost discussions.  There was our cash call.  So there's two options for our cash call.  One of them is 8 million and I believe the other one, subject to check, was much higher.

And so we had conversations in our board -- at our board about how much more could we really put up on this project without any sort of certainty about whether we would be getting our leave to construct or not.

And so the discussions that we had around that were we have decided that we needed to dial-back the spending.  So the options on the cash call -- capital call proposal, thank you, Becky -- one of the options is $8.6 million to continue.  The other one is 47.7 million.

And so as part of this conversation with the board of directors, option one was chosen.  And so NextBridge has dialled back its spending, because as we wait for a decision on the leave to construct.

And the dollars that are included in that option one are dollars that are needed to be spent to ensure that we can get into the field in June 2019, to ensure a December 2020 in-service date.

MR. WARREN:  Can I just ask you, briefly, to turn up tab 4 of the materials.  This is a response to HONI interrogatory 12.
"Has NextBridge prepared a report to its senior management and/or board of directors and/or shareholders of Upper Canada Transmission on the following day -- delays in the in-service date of the construction period; two, changes in the forecast costs of construction; three, changes in the overall project costs."

And if I turn over the page, D:

"NextBridge has not prepared a report to its senior management and/or its board of directors and/or the shareholders of Upper Canada Transmission on any of the items listed."

Have I read that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, there was no report prepared.  So NextBridge had discussions as part of that capital call that I mentioned in there as well.  And so we have not discussed at all -- we have not had a report with our board of directors for the delays in-service.  There has been no report on the changes, forecast cost of construction, and there has been no report on the changes to the overall project costs, because we are still maintaining a 737 project cost plus or minus 10 percent.

MR. WARREN:  I don't see in the board of directors material -- and you can find them at tab 17.  They're attachments to NextBridge, tab 5.  There are some reports to the Board... [off-mic] ...included in there regarding the capital call proposal.  I don't see --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, it is not in tab 17, at least in our compendiums here, our board of directors materials.  If you could help us.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  It is in my tab 17.  You can have it if you want.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think Stephanie is being helpful.  One-seven?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We don't have it in our compendiums.

MS. LONG:  Let's just wait until we find it, please.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, Madam Chair?

MS. LONG:  Let's just wait until we find it, okay?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  I am looking at the --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, I don't have it at tab 17 either.  Are you able to go from looking at the screen, or do you want to find --


MS. TIDMARSH:  I should be able to, yes.  If he is asking me about all of the board of directors decks, I'd like to have them --


MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Madam Chair, it is for August 10th.  Board of directors deck.  This is a presentation, I take it?  August 10th.  You don't have that on the screen.

These are attachments to Board Staff 55.  If you could turn up Board Staff 55.

My point, Ms. Tidmarsh -- and I don't need to belabour it -- but when I look through the August 10th material, including the capital call proposal, I do not see any reference to the amount of $50 million, $52 million, which is at risk.  Would you agree with me that it is nowhere in there?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if you look at actually the financial update for July, sorry, it is in the August board deck, but you will see the financial update July.  So it is the next page.  And so as part of that you can see the project to date, and so of July you can see there the 67 million in the actuals.

MR. WARREN:  Is there a note somewhere in this that says there is no regulatory approval for this, they're at risk?  Is there a note in there?  I may be missing it, but I don't see it.

MS. WALDING:  There isn't a note, but our board of directors is familiar with the case.  And so they are following the case and know that we have the 40.2 in the designation -- I mean, in the development process.

MR. WARREN:  Tab 3, panel, is a response to what I call Interrogatory No.11.  And one of the questions deals with crossing existing transmission lines.  And if you turn over to E):

"NextBridge provided a preliminary cost estimate for Hydro One for the relocation of E1M line.  NextBridge has not prepared a cost estimate for consultation, regulatory application, and other costs."

I am advised that there are some 15 crossings contemplated by the NextBridge route, and I am advised that those crossings -- the nature of the crossings are such that for safety reasons there will have to be outages.

And my question is, have you arranged with the IESO with respect to those outages?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I would like to pass this question
-- oh, my fellow witnesses are going to confer for a moment.  But for our E&C team, they can answer that question for you in a moment.

MR. BROTT:  Mr. Warren, we are well aware of that, and I think on the record we have put that we're prepared to cross these lines hot, if need be.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, I don't understand what that means, you are prepared to cross them "hot."

MR. BROTT:  Right.  It means we will cross them without having to take an outage on it.

MR. WARREN:  And if Hydro One says that for safety reasons you can't do that and you need an outage, what is your response to that?

MR. BROTT:  I think we've said we'll file a section 101 in there, and that will be part of our section 101.

MR. WARREN:  I am going to turn it over to Ms. Cooper.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Cooper:

MS. COOPER:  Good morning, panel.  It is still morning so far.  My name is Rosalind Cooper.  I am primarily going to be asking you some questions about permitting and EA approvals.

So my first question relates to the EA approval and the timing and, in particular, what work is left for NextBridge to do to complete the EA process.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  So you can see from, I believe it is Staff Interrogatory No. 51.  I don't know if it's part of your -- I believe it is part of the compendium.  And so we talk about what is left.  There was a letter that was filed with the Board last week on September 28th.

We have -- we are about to get our notice of completion from MECP, and at that point, then, it goes for a review period of another five weeks.  And then it will end up in the hands of the minister for the prescribed timeline for about 13 weeks.

And in conversations with MECP, we have let them know that we anticipate a February of 2019 approval for our environmental assessment, and they have confirmed that and could confirm that for you on Friday.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And so in those verbal discussions, have they indicated February of 2019 is achievable?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they have.

MS. COOPER:  And with respect to the notice of completion that you mentioned, do you know exactly when that will be issued?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So they mentioned in the letter that it is currently in French translation, and so once that is done we believe they will be coming in within the next week or so.

MS. COOPER:  In the next week, okay.

And during the five-week public review period that you mentioned, are you aware of what sorts of comments you might receive during that review period?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So our environmental assessment has had quite a lot of comments from the government review teams, from Indigenous stakeholders, from municipal and the public, and so we have addressed quite a few of them.

We aren't anticipating anything of surprise in that five-week government review -- or, sorry, in that five-week review period.

MS. COOPER:  So would it be fair to say, then, that during that five-week review period you wouldn't anticipate incurring any costs.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So during that five-week review period -- I am not sure.  Perhaps the -- there may be some questions that will come in from the public, in which case NextBridge would have to answer those or prepare answers to those.

And working with our, I was going to say general contractor, but, no, in some cases probably or maybe our general contractor if they were specific about construction, but working with Golder, our environmental consultant, and with MECP staff.

MS. COOPER:  And based on what you have said in terms of the consultation you have done, you wouldn't expect those questions to be unduly onerous or time-consuming or costly to complete?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is unknown, but at this point in time we're not anticipating that, no.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And then there is 13 weeks for the minister's decision and approval after that, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  And usually the minister's decision comes with conditions; you mentioned that earlier.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did.

MS. COOPER:  What sort of conditions do you anticipate receiving with the approval?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we have been working with MECP and MNRF.  And we have put together draft conditions lists, and presented them to those regulatory bodies.

However, it is eventually in the purview of the minister and his staff on what conditions will end up in our environmental assessment.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And at times with environmental approvals, there will be conditions that dictate times for construction in order to avoid impacting species or species at risk, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That is correct, yes.  However, pardon me, in our extensive work with permitting, so the environmental assessment itself I have always known is not what you build the project on.  You build the project on all of the underlying permits.

So we have been submitting all of our species at risk Permits, our draft permits to the regulatory bodies.  We have been submitting all of our water body crossing permits, any of the permits that we will need to build the project.

We have detailed project plans that include a lot of information.  And so we have put those in front of the regulators for their comment and so far, we have not received anything that looks like it would be a problem.

MS. COOPER:  And so going to the environmental assessment itself -- and I will talk about permits in a minute -- you don't anticipate there would be any conditions that would provide any restrictions on construction time frames, or anything like that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't surmise on what would come into those, into conditions.  But as I said before, we've had consultations and conversations with the government about what -- about our species at risk planning.

MS. COOPER:  Do you anticipate that any of those conditions could affect pricing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You have seen in our number, we talk about -- you know, in Staff Interrogatory No. 49, we list-out four factors that could potentially increase cost.

However, that is within the plus or minus 10 percent of the 737. And in some cases, conditions are a normal course of an environmental assessment.  It is always the normal course and we have contingency that would also cover that.  So earlier to Mr. Janigan's question about what is in contingency and what is in plus or minus, so plus or minus is the unknown unknowns.  But as part of contingency, we would know that conditions would come from the environmental assessment.

MS. COOPER:  Now, if the assessment approval -- because by my calculations, it is quite tight to get the EA issued in February, let's say that for some reason it spilled into March.  What would be the impact of that in terms of your schedule and costing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  So we have -- as part of our schedule, one of the things that we need prior to construction is obviously our environmental assessments, and we need our environmental assessment and our associated permits within a month of a construction start.

So in order to ensure that we will have our permits -- like I said the things, the permits are what the project is built on -- we have been working for the past six to eight months with MNRF putting together draft permits with detailed project information by segment.

Also I think it is important to note that we won't need all permits all at once in a great big flood.  We will be receiving permits in a steady stream as we construct.

And so in some cases, when we start at our first segment, we will need the permits for that one and then concurrently.  So there is a buffer when we need permits by.

MS. COOPER:  That sounds quite complicated.  Do you have a schedule that indicates when you would start construction and how the permits interrelate with a construction time frame so that you can ensure that it doesn't impede your construction progress?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  Those are part of the detailed project plans that we have been working on with MOECC.

MR. BROTT:  Those were the eleven work fronts that I discussed earlier.  Those were come about in these consultations with the MNRF.

So we have the eleven work fronts, and we have broken them down so MNRF could resource and permit these things in a timely fashion.  And we have identified over the past, what, six or eight months what goes into these detailed project plans.

And I believe, and I will -- Ms. Tidmarsh can correct me, but those will be a condition of our EA, that we have to submit all of these details to the MNRF, who has been asking us for a lot of detail through the EA process.

MS. COOPER:  So do I take it from that response that you have not yet submitted that, if one of the conditions will be to submit it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So one of the things that we need to do is we are currently preparing those detailed project plans.  So they will be needed to submit to MNRF for us to obtain our permits.  And like I said, we still have the draft permits and the detailed project.

When we have done -- I think we have begun consultations with MNRF on the first segment of detailed project plans that we need to do.

MS. COOPER:  So just so I understand it, these detailed project plans are plans that would stipulate the timeframe for construction of the various segments, as well as the permits that are required for each segment that you are constructing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. BROTT:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  But they're not ready yet?

MR. BROTT:  They are in draft form.  A lot of them -- the ones that we had planned on are in draft form, and we have submitted an overarching detailed project plan.  I think we might have come up with a better name than that, but we've submitted an overarching detailed project plan that the MNRF has reviewed and provided comments on, so that we have kind of a blueprint, if you will, to do the rest.

MS. COOPER:  Are any of those filed in evidence in this proceeding?

MR. BROTT:  No.

MS. COOPER:  None?

MR. BROTT:  No.

MS. COOPER:  You mentioned you progressed how many of these segments?  The first one, I think you said.

MR. BROTT:  We have submitted the overarching detailed project plan, and we have the MNRF comments back.  And we have started the drafts of the other segments and they were under review.

But they are -- they're not being progressed right now until we get LTC approval.

MS. COOPER:  So back to my earlier question about what happens if the EA approval is pushed into March or even April, what would be the impact in terms of the work that you are doing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we still need a June 2019 construction start, and so we still have that buffer if the environmental assessment approval was pushed back.  But we have no indications that we will not be able to get our environmental assessment in February of 2019.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.

MR. BROTT:  And just for the record, the detailed project plans and the permits cannot be approved until we have EA approval.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And I am going to ask you about that in a moment.

But just completing on the implications of a delay on an EA approval, you've talked about the fact that it wouldn't impact scheduling; you say you have a buffer.  What about costs?  Would there be any implication to costs if it was pushed into April, March?

MR. BROTT:  Well, this is all hypothetical, so we would have to look at it.  But, you know, you are pushing that far -- depending on when we get leave to construct approval and can start producing these again, depending on if we can have them reviewed by the MNRF in parallel with the EA approval, so that when the EA is approved these are conditionally approved.


Then if it works that way, in theory you could go up until the point when you're a couple of weeks before you start construction and upon that EA approval, all of these permits are approved.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So for clarity on cost, if I could clarify your question on cost as well.  So you mentioned before that NextBridge wouldn't be incurring significant costs once the EA was in front of them for the public review and going forward.

MS. COOPER:  I asked you that question.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I apologize.  I indicated.  And so the other part is, our budget for the environmental portion of the project includes all of the activities around permitting.  So we have accounted for activities around permitting and to obtain permits.

And so, as Mr. Brott had said earlier in testimony, the scope of this project has not changed.  It is just the timing.  And so we anticipate no extra costs for the environmental part of this project.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So from that, you're saying that even if it got pushed into March or April, it would have no impact on either timing, scheduling or cost?

MR. BROTT:  I think that also depends on when the LTC is approved, right.  Because right now we're not progressing these detailed project plans.  If the LTC were to be approved in November or December, then we would put all of these detailed project plans to the MNRF and they would review them in parallel.

MS. TIDMARSH:  For clarity, I mentioned about our budget and how we pared back on our spending and you could see that our capital call, we had a lower budget amount of 8 million.

So we are in fact progressing the detailed project plan for the first segment that we're beginning.  So we have pared back work on all of the other detailed project plans.

However, we are working on the detailed project plan for the first segment that we'll be starting in June 2019, in order to make a December 2020 in-service date.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And just so I am clear on this, that means that you are progressing that first segment, but you have put a hold on all of the other segment detail project plans until such time as leave to construct is issued?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  And so you wouldn't be able to provide MNRF or other regulators with those detailed project plans until that time, right?  It would be after leave to construct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So Mr. Brott talked about the overarching detailed project plan.  So this is a template of how all the other detailed project plans will go.

So MNRF has seen that project template.  It just needs to be populated with all of the field reconnaissance data and all of the construction planning information that we've been gathering over the summer and this fall.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So just so I understand what you have provided to them, the overarching -- that's the name you are using -- the overarching project plan is more of a template to be used for the detailed project development?  For each segment?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It lays out what will be included in all of the detail -- it's similar to a terms of reference that you would put together for an environmental assessment.  It lays out the methodology, what will be included, what won't be included.  And again, having conversations with MNRF, and receiving their feedback, we have improved and taken into account their feedback.

And so since then we have started working on the first -- for the first segment that incorporates the feedback from MNRF.  We don't see any sort of roadblocks going forward, since they have commented on the overarching detailed project plans.

MR. BROTT:  I would add as well, based on our consultation with the MNRF, Hydro One would likely have to submit these detailed project plans as well, and they are very onerous and time-consuming and take lots of field work.

MS. COOPER:  That was going to be my next question, so I am glad you asked that.  How long have you been working on the first segment?

MR. BROTT:  We submitted our detailed -- overarching detailed project plan --


MS. COOPER:  I mean the detailed -- the segment one you described to me earlier.  So not the overarching, but what you are calling the detailed project plan for segment one.

MR. BROTT:  So we collected all of the field work this summer and we have been working on that since, I would say August, subject to check.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So a couple of months.

MR. BROTT:  Beginning of August.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So -- and is that fair to say -- are you almost done that one?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So we have -- as I mentioned, our field program ends within the next week or two.  And so we -- all of the field data that we have collected would go into that detailed project plan.  But again, it's been worked on.  The shell is there from the overarching plan, and most of the detail is already there.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And how many segments do you have to do?

MR. BROTT:  Eleven sub-segments.  We have six overall segments, but we broke it down even further, like I said, to help with MNRF resourcing.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.

MR. BROTT:  And just to make it more bite size, if you will.

MS. COOPER:  So just so I understand, you say six segments, eleven sub-segments.  Are the eleven sub-segments subsumed by the six, or are they separate -- completely separate plans so you have got 17?

MR. BROTT:  No.  So ignore the six.  We have eleven sub-segments --


MS. COOPER  Okay.

MR. BROTT:  -- that we're submitting eleven -- we are calling them work fronts.  Eleven work fronts that we are submitting eleven detailed project plans for.

MS. COOPER:  So the one that you have actually submitted is the first sub-segment, just to be precise?

MR. BROTT:  No.  The first one we submitted was the overarching detailed project plan that was the framework that we got all of the --


MS. COOPER:  Sorry, I used the wrong term, I apologize.  What I meant to say is the one that you said you're working on and have been working on for the past two months, that's a sub-segment, that I've got it right --


MR. BROTT:  That is a sub-segment.  We have already submitted the overarching detailed project plan and received comments.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I also understand that you are in a issues resolution period on the environmental assessment with the ministry; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Until we receive our notice of completion, yes.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And so during that issues resolution period, do you become apprised of the issues that the ministry is looking at or what they're dealing with?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So we are in constant contact with the ministry and with the MNRF and any Indigenous communities that have provided any sort of information, public, municipalities.  And so we have been in constant contact with them and have been resolving those issues.

We actually have, I believe it was just last week, submitted all of our comments for the issues resolution, and so --


MS. COOPER:  And just to give us a flavour of what kind of issues are coming up, can you give us just very quickly an idea of what they might be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  One of them we had was for the Aboriginal Community Advisory Board.  So you can see, actually, in the letter that MECP sent us on September 28th they wanted to ensure that this Board was put into place for ongoing consultation.

And so we sent out -- we have had a terms of reference for that Aboriginal Community Advisory Board.  We -- it actually was in a milestone for the OEB.  And we had a terms of reference.  We didn't have any uptake from any members, and so we have since revised that terms of reference, sent it out to communities for their response, and will put in place the Aboriginal Community Advisory Board.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I also understand there is a commitment list that has to be provided, as well as part of the EA process.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And what's the status of the commitment list?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we put together the commitment list, and so the commitment list has to be -- from my understanding, the commitment list must be done before the notice, and submitted before the notice of completion.

So we have put together that commitment list and submitted it to the ministry.  But you know, as I have mentioned earlier, any commitments really are subject to ministry and to minister's review of the project.  So we have put together what we call a draft commitment list.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And when did you submit that to the ministry?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would have to do subject to check, but I believe it was in the last week or so.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And so you said that they have to review that commitment list before they can issue the notice of completion; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's my understanding.

MS. COOPER:  And any idea of the nature, or can you give us an idea of the nature of the commitments that are going to be on that list?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think -- well, I mentioned the Aboriginal Community Advisory Board.  I think a lot of those commitments -- and Mr. Brott can probably chime in on some of those as well -- are how we would undertake our construction, how we would work, how we would do environmental inspection, how we would, again -- all of our -- how our segments would go and what we would be doing for those activities and committing -- there is a vegetation, for example, management plan in there.  So our commitments around vegetation management.

MR. BROTT:  I would say a lot of it -- so we have a construction environmental protection plan in our contract with Valard.  And those have all been developed through negotiation and consultation with these ministries.  This plan -- or this commitment list basically consolidated all that.

MS. COOPER:  So the draft commitment list that you have put in, when does that get finalized?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the draft commitment list is basically our recommendations to the ministry and the minister.  So those draft commitments we won't know until we have received approval from the minister in February of 2019.

MS. COOPER:  Thank you.  I wanted to ask you about some of the permits that you've mentioned earlier, and you talked about a series of permits.  And I know in the schedule that you produced with the milestones, they are all listed there -- or I am going to ask you, are they all listed there, all the permits that you require?  And I am referring to order number 3, detailed project schedule for East-West Tie.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Could we pull it up, or if you could let me know what tab it was so I could --


MS. COOPER:  Sure.  It is Staff 49.  Exhibit 1.  It is the attachment page -- it is page 1, 2, and 3.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  It is in your compendium?

MR. BROTT:  Tab 12.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you very much.

MS. COOPER:  So I think if you focus on the approvals that are set out under the activity section, and there is an environmental as one of the headings, would you say that is a comprehensive list of all of the approvals you required?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is not all of the approvals we require.  It is the major ones we will be requiring for the project.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Can you give me an idea of what sorts of things you left off the list as required permits?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Without our comprehensive permitting list in front of us, I think -- just one moment, if I can confer with the panel?

MS. COOPER:  Absolutely.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. TIDMARSH:  So these are the permits, so our large permitting list is -- is comprehensive, but these are the known ones, the ones that we know we need.  There are some that we are still in conversations with MNRF and other regulatory agencies to determine if we need.

So actually, even in some of these, you can see, for example, MOECC, the ECA, camp wastewater.  That one is included, but we may not need those for every single one of the sites.

So these are the ones that we know we might need for some of the sites, but not all of them.  We've included them all here.

MR. BROTT:  We have a much longer list than this, but I can't recollect it from memory.

MS. COOPER:  Fair enough.  So really just confirming that there are approvals not listed on here, and you believe these are the main categories of approvals that that you would be seeking.

MS. TIDMARSH:  These are the main categories and the ones we know for sure, from our conversations with MNRF and MOECC, these regulatory agencies that we'll need.

MS. COOPER:  So other approvals that may emerge later would not be on this list.  Have they been costed, other approvals that could potentially emerge later?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  They're part of our -- the permitting RFP that we did with Golder and the work that Golder has been doing on permitting.  They received our large permit list, so they know exactly which ones that we would be needing.  Then also our general contractor also has -- I believe there's some permits they will also be seeking as well, so those are also part of our fixed price signed EPC contract.

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  So let me ask you about the approval categories.  I take it for some of these there is multiple approvals?  It is just the same type.  So you have listed type of approval rather than number of approvals.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MS. COOPER:  So for some of these, there may be many approvals required of the same type?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MS. COOPER:  And you've targeted the same date for almost all of the approvals except the EA, which is Q1, 2019.  Correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have -- you can see the footnote on 2 where it says "environment", and it says, if you turn to page 3 of 3:
"Apart from the environmental assessment, based on the segmented approach to construction, not all permits are needed at the start of construction."

MS. COOPER:  So when you look at this chart and it gives you your target date, you are saying that you have said that you are going to, or will try to get these permits by Q1, 2019, but really that is not the intent.  The intent is that you are going to get some later, depending on your construction schedule.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So they're matched to the segment that we would be using.

So a lot of these permits, as I mentioned, we have had drafts that we've worked with MOECC, with MNRF, with --actually, with ECC on our bats and caribou as well as fisheries.  We have had an MTCS for our cultural and heritage resources, which actually we did receive already since this was put together.

But we have put together those drafts, and it is mostly just going to be a function of putting in different locations for each one of them and the different technical requirements for each one of them.  So we've -- we know that a lot of the offices in northwestern Ontario are very resource-constrained, so we have been working on a project plan with them to ensure that they know what type of permits we're receiving -- they will be receiving and when, and what they will look like.

So this first batch of permits, again, we have been working on the detailed project plans which kind of lays out what's going to go into those permits.

So those first ones we anticipate that we will get in hand for a June 2019 construction start.

MS. COOPER:  So when you say that you've been working with the regulators and you have developed sort of a batch of approvals they might expect to receive during different time periods, do you have that somewhere in writing, like a schedule that says these are the approvals that we're going to seek at this particular time, and here is when we're going to be submitting them to you?  Do you have that laid out somewhere?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we have a project schedule that we have -- or a permitting schedule that we have provided, and I believe it is also part of the overarching detailed project plans.

MS. COOPER:  When you say provided, to this Board in evidence?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, no, to the regulators -- I'm sorry, the permitting agencies.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  But you haven't produced that to give an idea of when those permits will be sought, at what point in time?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We weren't asked to provide that as part of this process, and so we have not provided it.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Are you aware of the time frames associated with the different permits, how long they typically take to get issued?  Do you have any sort of idea, or any documentation that gives you an indication for each type of permit what your expected timeframe is for turnaround?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We do.  A lot of them have prescribed turnaround times, so we've built that into our schedule as well.  So there's regulated turnaround times, and we are aware of all of them.

MS. COOPER:  And of the ones that I am looking at here, which ones have regulated turnaround times?  I take it by regulated turnaround times, you're saying that you submit it on X day, and the legislation prescribes you will get it back on Y date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct, yes.  So I -- I can't tell you that.  I don't know.

MS. COOPER:  Do you know if a permit to take water has a regulated time frame?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe it does, actually.  I believe that -- well, I believe that we've talked to MOECC and talked about how long it would take for them to turn it around.  A regulated timeframe -- I think what you mean is something prescribed in legislation.

MS. COOPER:  Correct.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And so it does not, as far as my knowledge.

MS. COOPER:  Are you aware, for example, with some of the ECAs, environmental compliance approvals, that the ministry can take up to 18 months to issue those?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have had conversations with MECP about it, about which ones we need.  And in fact, a lot of these ECAs we may not in fact need, because we were going to use them for our camp activities.  So we have since located our camps in areas where there are municipal hook-ups, so we may not in fact need them.

MS. COOPER:  And if you do need them, you started to say you have had discussions with them about their lengthy timeframe --


MS. TIDMARSH:  An indication of where they would be, yes.

MS. COOPER:  Have they made any commitments in terms of being able to issue those permits more quickly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They have said -- actually, they have said -- when we talked to the government about ensuring a December 2020 in-service date, we have had conversations with senior management levels of all of the ministries discussing the need to ensure that we can expedite and move permits along, and that the ministries intend to support so that we can get our project in service.

MR. BROTT:  And also, let me add, we have four construction camps --


MS. COOPER:  Before you do that, just so I don't lose my question, I just wanted to ask Ms. Tidmarsh with whom those discussions have been had.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So with the assistant deputy ministers of MNRF and with MOECC.

MS. COOPER:  And just on that front, have you had any discussions with the actual approving branches that issue the permits?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They were part of the room, yes.

MS. COOPER:  They were in the room?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  So who would that be?  Would that be someone like Adam, or who would it be from the ECA branch that would have been involved in that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am trying to think.

MS. COOPER:  When you say they were in the room, I take it because they were in the room with you?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they were.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would have to check back and see if I recall.

MS. COOPER:  I'm sorry, you wanted to say something and I cut you off.

MR. BROTT:  Ms. Tidmarsh mentioned these are for our camps.  So we have four construction camps along the line.  We have one in Nipigon, one in Terrace Bay, one in White River, and one in Wawa.

Three of our camps we have land for and they're established, and we have land in Wawa.  That is the only one that we aren't completely solidified on, but we have two options there.

And if we have to go with one of our other options, then we can bring water in until we get that approval.  Or we can get a municipal hook-up which is not that far away.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So you're saying for clarity those other camps don't need municipal hook-ups?

MR. BROTT:  No, they don't need ECAs.  Basically, we don't need this environmental approval -- we will likely not need this environmental approval based on where we have located our camps.

MS. COOPER:  Just to correct what I think you said earlier, because I think you said that you included in this list all of permits you definitely required, but didn't include those that might be required, and that is not correct.

MS. TIDMARSH:  The definite one was the current location of the Wawa camp.  So we would need, at this time, the ECA -–

MS. COOPER:  You only need one is what you're saying?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  Some of these other permits are things like the SARA permits and in particular the navigable water permits, do you have an idea of what the turnaround time is on those?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I personally don't know, but I do know we have actually submitted drafts to ECC on those permits.  So we submitted them earlier this year and we have been told they're awaiting comment to find out the outcome of our leave to construct.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And when you say awaiting comment from the leave to construct, are they saying they're going to be issued upon leave to construct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  They're saying that they may have comments on them.

In some cases, they have actually indicated that they are looking for information or support from the MECP on whether -- on when we get our environmental assessment from MECP.

MS. COOPER:  And I am sure you are aware, though, that with some of these permits, they do take up to twelve months or longer to get issued?

MS. TIDMARSH:  And so in our detailed project plan and our detailed schedule, we have -- knowing when we will need them and in which segment, we have worked in those timeframes.

MS. COOPER:  So that is the detailed project plan you have been talking about, where you have completed one segment of it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, it is a very detailed project schedule, a multi-page project schedule that talks about -- it is our permitting list.  Sorry, not a project schedule, our permitting list that talks about when we need each permit depending on the segment.

MS. COOPER:  That is not in evidence in this proceeding.

MS. TIDMARSH:  It's not, but it's been feeding into the detailed project plans we have been working on with MNRF and MOECC.


MS. COOPER:  Is that something -- and I know, Madam Chair, you are not inclined to undertakings, and I am not inclined to make people do a lot of work, but since it already appears to be in existence, is that something that you could provide, to provide some indication of the permits that are required and the timing on them?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, one moment, please.


[Witness panel confers.]

MS. TIDMARSH:  Depending on if the Board is interested in seeing this information, we could undertake to look into providing that.


MS. LONG:  I am not actually sure that we need it.  I think you have given a general overview of where you are.  I don't know that the Board requires that level of specifics at this point.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MS. COOPER:  I am going to ask you about the transmission crossing, and Mr. Warren asked you a few questions about that, but I just wanted to follow up.


My understanding is that if you require approval from the Board, that process you say would take five months; is that correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So is it possible if you need to proceed with that process that you probably would not have those approvals in hand until summer?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I think we would have to undertake to look -- sorry, not an undertaking, but we would have to look at the type of permits that would be needed.  We are doing our crossings, and those crossings permits -- those crossings are part of our environmental assessment, and the permits associated with crossings are included already in our application.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And what about the potential impact on construction timing of some of the permits?  Some of these permits, as you probably know, are issued with conditions that say you can only use the permit or follow the permit during a specified period of time.


Is that worked into your schedule as well?


MS. TIDMARSH:  It is.  After five years of conversations with all of our regulatory bodies, and that we are working with, we have an understanding of what typically goes into a permit, and in fact, when we were looking at our schedule for this exercise we talked about, we ensured that caribou is a large -- is a concern in northwestern Ontario.


So in moving some of our segments around we ensured that we are working -- we are able to work in the permitted caribou zones during this time.  So we have taken that into account as well.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I think earlier the panel gave some evidence about the segmentation with respect to the plans.  And so I heard the numbers that originally there were six proceeding in winter and five proceeding in summer.  Do you recall that?  Mr. Brott?


MR. BROTT:  Yes.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And then you told me that you have switched it so that you had increased the number proceeding in summer, and I think by the calculations given, the numbers you read out, you have now reduced the six in winter to two and the five that were going in summer to nine; is that fair?


MR. BROTT:  Subject to check, yes, that sounds right.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I also heard you indicate that there would be no additional costs associated with moving four of the segments from winter to summer and doing nine segments, almost double, instead of the five.  Did I understand that correctly?


MR. BROTT:  Let me clarify.  When I said -- I'm not sure if I said "doing", but I said "starting during the winter and summer", and then it would progress in the winter.


Obviously you know, some of these activities would start in the winter, some in the summer.  Mostly what I am talking about is clearing.  So clearing is the first thing -- the clearing and the prepping of the right-of-way is what is really sensitive.  That is when you have to do your bird sweeps.  That is what is a little more -- and the access is a little more time-sensitive than the rest of the activities.


MS. COOPER:  Right.  But do you agree with me that that is the evidence you gave, that the switching of all of those segments to the summertime frame to begin -- I understand it may not be completion -- that that will result in absolutely no increased cost?


MR. BROTT:  I believe I said we're sticking to the 737 and the plus or minus 10 percent.  That's been our stance up here the whole time.


MS. COOPER:  But you do agree that you'd need extra crews or extra materials if you are going to more than double the work taking place during a particular segment of time?


MR. BROTT:  So you would need extra crews.  I think I gave the example earlier whether I build one segment -- sorry, whether I build one crew over two months or two crews over one month, it's still the same amount of labour in our fixed labour cost.  What you are paying for is extra management.  You are paying for, you know, potential labour shortages, so to get that additional labour there, you're paying for premiums on equipment, because you are creating shortages by crashing a schedule, but the labour is still the same.


MS. COOPER:  Right.  I think your words were you're not doubling the cost.  That's the way you put it.


MR. BROTT:  Yes.


MS. COOPER:  And I accept that you're saying you're not doubling the costs.  But are you saying there is no impact on cost?


MR. BROTT:  I'm saying that the cost will stay within the plus or minus 10 percent bandwidth, and that we will find -- we always bet on ourselves -- we will find efficiencies as we go.  That is what we do.


MR. MAYERS:  But you're shifting the costs.  So you have more crews.  You are shifting the spend curve.  You would have had to spend that money to do that clearing anyway.  You are just shifting it.


MS. COOPER:  Right.  And we talked a little bit about that earlier, and we talked about the detailed construction plan that you have been working on with Valard, the to and fro that you have been doing with Valard, correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  And MNRF and MOECC, yes.


MR. BROTT:  Yes.


MS. COOPER:  They're not really involved in the construction aspect.  I mean actually undertaking the work.  It would be Valard.


MR. BROTT:  It would be Valard undertaking the work.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.  All right.  You don't have anything in writing.  I think we confirmed that, and I believe Mr. Warren asked you that.  You don't have anything in writing that you can share that provides the details with respect to the construction?  And I know you have referred to what we have been talking about is order number 3, which is the Staff 49, three-page milestone sheet.


But you said you don't have anything in writing.  It is just based on verbal conversations with Valard, correct?


MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I would like to ask you, so I'm a little surprised at that.  You are coming to this Board seeking leave.  You are dealing with a project that is $737 million, and you don't have a detailed schedule in writing?  All you have is verbal communications with the construction contractor?


MR. MAYERS:  We had a detailed schedule based on a start date originally being this winter.  Basically all we're doing is asking the contractor to take a look at these segments or the sub-segments that Mr. Brott mentioned and shift them around.


But until we get some idea of when we're actually going to get the leave to construct or the EA, for the time being it is not worth us speeding the contractor up to do a complete reassessment of everything he needs to do.  Right now he is telling us that this is --


MS. COOPER:  Sorry, to interrupt.  I am just going to ask you a question about that.  When you say it's not worth spending (sic) the contractor around, don't you think in the context of a project of this magnitude where you are coming to the Board and saying, "Trust us on this schedule.  We know we told you previously there was a month float but there is really seven months' float.  Just trust us.  We can work on this," don't you think you would have come here with that detailed schedule to say, "You don't have to trust us.  We have talked to the contractor.  Here it is"?


MR. BROTT:  We have a schedule.  It is in our evidence.  It was -- I think is what you're asking --


MS. COOPER:  Are we back to three pages?


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, can the witnesses please be allowed to answer the questions.  That is two interruptions in a row.  Surely they should at least have an opportunity to answer a question before they're interrupted.


MS. COOPER:  And Mr. Cass, I am not trying to interrupt them, but we keep referring back to these three pages, and I want to be sure we're not referring back to the three pages again.


MR. CASS:  Well, and I think you keep misstating what they've said previously, and they're trying to correct you.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I would like to hear the correction.


MR. BROTT:  We have provided a schedule.  It is in our evidence.  That is the correction.  I think is what you're asking for is all the detail of how everything would get done, and we're not prepared to go there with our contractor.  That is a lot of effort for them to put forth before we know when we will have a LTC approval.


MS. COOPER:  Okay, thank you.  And that is exactly what I am asking.  I think you were referring back to the three pages when you say you have the schedule.  Can we confirm that?  Yes?


MR. BROTT:  Yes.


MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And I think you are also confirming that you didn't think it was worthwhile to go back and deal with the contractor and get something in writing that confirms on a project of this magnitude that you can condense the seven months.


MR. BROTT:  We're confident with our contractor and with our discussions with our contractor that we can meet what we've put forth.


MS. COOPER:  That sounds like "trust us", but let's move on.


MS. WALDING:  It is within our signed contract agreement too, EPC agreement.  So it is the signed agreement that we have.


MS. COOPER:  Would the panel be prepared to ask, since we don't have someone from Valard here, whether there would be absolutely no price increase as a result of the change in this construction schedule, condensing all of this work and bringing it into this tight construction schedule?


MR. BROTT:  You know, I think we've explained earlier that there are risks with this construction schedule, which is why we have a bandwidth of plus or minus 10 percent.


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, can you be clear for the record, when you're talking about this construction schedule, you're talking about --


MR. BROTT:  Yes --


MS. LONG:  -- the changed construction schedule --


MR. BROTT:  Yes, ma'am, the June 1st start or the after-spring break of 2019 construction schedule.  There are risks involved, which is why we have a plus or minus 10 percent bandwidth.

And we are very comfortable with that, and Valard is very comfortable with that.

MS. COOPER:  I appreciate that, and I guess my question is do you have something to make the Board comfortable with that?

MR. BROTT:  We have all of the previous projects that we've done that we typically come in on budget and on schedule, and we have all of the projects that Valard has done, that they typically come in on budget and on schedule.

MS. COOPER:  I think the answer is you don't.

MR. CASS:  That is not the answer, Madam Chair  He just gave the answer and it was not "we don't."

MS. COOPER:  I am asking if there is something that they can bring to the Board to provide them with some comfort, other than we've had some discussions with our contractor.  And I think what I am hearing is, again, trust us, we have done this before.  But I don't see anything concrete.  So if there is --


MS. LONG:  I don't want to put words in the witnesses' mouth.  But I think what the witness has referred to is past successes.

MS. COOPER:  Correct.

MS. LONG:  Do you want to refer to those somewhere in the record, where you have listed projects that have come in on time and on schedule?  Is that what you're referring to?

MR. BROTT:  Yes.  We have provided both Valard projects and NextEra or NextBridge projects that have come in on budget on schedule in the record, and we are happy to provide more.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, if you need them, they are in response to SEC 26.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  That's the Valard track record, and I will get you the number for the NextEra one.  I think it is 16, but I will confirm that.

MS. COOPER:  In reviewing the transcript from yesterday -- unfortunately, I wasn't here, but just reviewing the transcript, I was looking at the potential start date and the in-service date.

There's a few times when I see the word "may", "we may", it's a target date.  And then a few times where I see the words "we will achieve it".

I guess what I would like to ask -- and if you need to confer please do -- but is it may?  Is it will?  Or you are not sure?

MR. BROTT:  We will meet this schedule.  If we're granted leave to construct on this schedule, we will meet it.

MS. COOPER:  So anywhere where we have seen the reference to "may" in the responses on the interrogatories and other places in evidence, we're to disregard that may?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So for clarity, there are always unknown unknowns in a project.

We have -- as part of our cost, we have contingencies.  We also have reasons to believe that we will make a December 2020 in-service date.

However, there are things that happen.  So for example, if we can talk about the history of this project, we were quite certain we would be making a 2018 in-service date.  If you had asked us would we be making a 2018 in-service date when we received the designation, our answer would have been yes.

However, we could not have factored in the IESO coming back and pushing the project back.

So there are always things that will come up in a project, and so -- but we are doing everything that we can to ensure that we will be making a December 2020 in-service date.

MS. COOPER:  Thank you for the clarification.  With that, I am just going to ask you some follow up questions to some questions my -- Mr. Warren asked you about the stations' EA.

I think we have already gone through, and I am not going to review the evidence again, the letter in particular that was sent to MECP by Ms. Croll on which you were copied, Ms. Tidmarsh.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. COOPER:  You recall the letter I am speaking of?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MS. COOPER:  I wanted to ask you, based on that letter which suggests that there is a problem in terms of scheduling and meeting the in-service date, what actions did you take, in summary?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So when we received the letter, as I mentioned before to Mr. Warren, I met with Ms. Croll.  We had a conversation that we would go and meet with MECP and discuss their position, discuss potential ways to mitigate it.  And again I was not part of the further conversations on if there was any mitigation or discussions from there.

So that's -- and so it was -- the take away was the conversation was going to be had with MECP and Hydro One about the schedule.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  You were the one that attended the meeting with MECP, am I correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I was, yes.

MS. COOPER:  And at that meeting, did MECP seem to move from their position that they're unwilling to consider permits until the EA is issued?

MS. TIDMARSH:  From my recollection, no, that was not the crux of the issue.  The conversation was around what the schedule impacts could potentially be.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And in terms of that issue, you said that afterwards you left it to Hydro One to deal with it going forward.  Am I correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I was actually asked not to be involved with it going forward.

We have obviously the -- the competing leave to constructs that bring us here today.  The station work needs to be separated from -- the people who work on the station work should be separated from the people who work on the line work.  And so as part of the conversations, MECP has asked NextBridge, because I work on both, it's best for NextBridge not to be part of any of the other conversations.

MS. COOPER:  Just so I am clear on that, the MECP asked you not to be part of the conversation?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Said it wasn't required for me to be there, yes.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And you accept that, that that is not required for anyone from NextBridge to be part of that conversation?  Are you comfortable with that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The station work is not in the purview of the NextBridge project.  And so it is important to NextBridge's -- the electrification of the line, and so ongoing discussions I was not privy to.

MS. COOPER:  When you say it is important to electrification of the line, would it be fair to say it is actually critical, fundamental to the electrification of the line?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  Without the station work, the line cannot be electrified.

MS. COOPER:  So again I would just ask, if the ministry asked you to step back and not get involved, are you comfortable with that, given that your ability to meet this in-service date is entirely contingent on that issue?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm not sure my comfort level plays into how important it is.  I was asked, and so I adhered to what I was asked to do.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And did you raise any concerns to the ministry?  Did you explain to them that while you understand their concerns, you also -- they have to understand your necessity to be present to deal with this issue?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Well, not to be present.  But I did indicate to MECP that it was important, in order to meet a December 2020 in-service date, for us to move forward with the station work.  And so that is why I was there in the joint meeting, so that both proponents could be there.

MS. COOPER:  And who was at that meeting that you had this discussion with about your involvement?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Anna Maria Cross was there.  She will be testifying on Friday.  Adam Wright was there, as well.  Yu San Ong from Hydro One and myself were there, and I believe one other individual who was working on the environmental -- the class EAs with Hydro One, whose name I unfortunately can't remember.

MS. COOPER:  And the panel gave some evidence earlier on this morning about the construction schedule developed by Hydro One with respect to the station's work, and I appreciate there is something in the works to provide some greater clarity to the Board as to what that will be.

But there were some comments made by the panel regarding the schedule itself, some descriptor words were used in terms of the progress of the schedule and the timeline.

I wanted to ask have you ever communicated in writing to Hydro One your concerns about their timeline or the schedule?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I have communicated to them about the concerns about meeting the schedule for the December 2020.

I think one of the things that I would like to understand from this questioning is -- or at least I would like to make clear from this questioning is NextBridge has always endeavoured to meet the December 2020 in-service date based on the IESO, based on the order in council.  We have never been directed on a December 2021 in-service date and so NextBridge continues to progress that if Hydro One directed us to make a December 2021 in-service date, again we rely on the IESO's needs assessment.  We rely on the order in council from the government in order to make a December 2020.

So indications from Hydro One -- which we have pointed out that they may have happened, they may have indicated -- but the actual date of when those stations would be in-service was not known to me or to NextBridge until September 24th, when these interrogatories were filed.

I would just like to make that very clear.

MS. COOPER:  I have absolutely heard your evidence on that, and I think the -- I think we should leave it that the record will speak for itself.  There is a letter on which you were copied, and the record will speak for itself as to the knowledge.

But my question was -- I am not sure I got an answer to it, but my question was more along the lines of what sort of communications have you had with Hydro One regarding the schedule itself?  So the ability to meet that in-service date based on station construction and given your comments about your concerns about it.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we have never received -- as neither has any one of the intervenors or the Board -- updated schedules on the service on the stations, so either Lakehead, Marathon or Wawa.

So we have not provided comment on those.  We did provide as -- when we were in the meeting and we saw the Marathon schedule, we were part of the discussions where MECP were asking them about durations, and the person who was there had to go back to project management to talk about durations.

MS. COOPER:  And I appreciate that.  What I was really referring to was the evidence that came out this morning at this hearing, so there were some comments made by your colleague, and I'm sorry I can't remember your name.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Mayers?

MS. WALDING:  It was made by Mr. Mayers.

MS. COOPER:  Oh, was it?  I thought it was made by you.  I thought you were --


MR. MAYERS:  Well, if it had to do with scheduling it was me.

MS. COOPER:  It had to do with the progress.  And I wrote something down that there was about shaving time off.  I think somebody --


MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that would have been me.

MS. COOPER:  -- it was a fat project or there's some fat in there.

MR. MAYERS:  That's me.

MS. COOPER:  Then my focus was wrongly placed.  I will go back to you.  So given that evidence and that you don't have this detailed construction schedule that Ms. Tidmarsh just spoke about, how did you come to those conclusions?

MR. MAYERS:  About the schedule for Marathon?  The construction --


MS. COOPER:  About the schedule and the timing of it and so on.

MR. MAYERS:  So in reviewing the data package, and when I looked at the -- there was a meeting that Ms. Tidmarsh had, again, that she is referencing here.  In there there was a one-page schedule.  And I basically looked at that schedule and thought, well, there seems to be a lot of extra time in here, specifically between how long it's taking to do the foundations and why other work isn't being worked in parallel that is generally done for construction projects.  You don't just do all one set of work and then wait for the next.  Once the first set of foundations comes in, generally you have an electrical contractor come in, and he starts setting equipment, he starts setting bus work.  You progress through a project from one end to the other.  You typically don't wait until one project is done.

There is some overlap in that schedule, it's very clear, but it was unusual to me to see that something had such a large gap in the timing of the work for the foundations and when they began to set steel.

MS. COOPER:  So on that basis -- and when did you become aware of this schedule that you are talking about where you were surprised to see the timelines?

MR. MAYERS:  Just a couple of days ago was the first that I had seen this attachment inside this environmental report.  Generally I don't -- I from an engineering perspective don't read all of the environmental information or the Indigenous community information or dialogue that is going on.  I have got enough on my plate to begin with.

But when I saw that, I thought it was quite unusual that there was gaps.  So I thought I would bring it up simply because I feel like there's a way for some compression to take place so that we can pull that schedule in.

And it is also unusual for, say, a utility to call another utility and say, hey, by the way, you know, I mean, in the case of when you start looking at dates and no one is telling you that they're not coming off that date, it is really unusual for someone to say accelerate when you don't know that there is a need to accelerate, or can I see your schedule --


MS. COOPER:  So I am just going to ask you about that.

MR. MAYERS:  -- you tend to ask that.

MS. COOPER:  Sorry, I am just going to ask about what you just said, which is it's very unusual to call another utility.  In this case it is not that unusual, though, is it?  I mean, you have two utilities that are --


MR. MAYERS:  [Speaking over each other]

MS. COOPER:  -- [speaking over each other] --


MS. LONG:  One at time.  Please let Ms. Cooper ask her question, and then you can answer, okay?

MR. MAYERS:  Sorry.

MS. COOPER:  Thank you.  I am just asking that you are working hand in hand in effect with a utility in order to achieve an in-service date in this particular case.  It is rather unusual that that is the situation.

So again, if you know that everything depends -- and I have heard the panel give evidence all morning about, that's the in-service date, that is what we're targeting -- and you are relying on another party to help get you there, I just find it surprising that there was no enquiries made about, how are you coming with that timeline?  What's going on?  Can I see a draft?  And that we're here today getting that information.

So if you would like to respond to that I am happy to hear it.

MR. MAYERS:  As I said, we didn't see a need for this to occur up until just a couple of weeks ago when basically, you know, we were told that the schedule is no longer going to be targeted.

So we would love to have a dialogue now to see what we can do to help to try to pull that schedule in.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.

MR. MAYERS:  I mean, let me just add, when you look at the project -- I looked at the SIA, the CIA, for HONI -- when you look at the project and you look at the amount of work that's necessary at the three substations to pull this project in, the substation work should be done well in advance of us having to build a 280-mile long line.

There is no doubt in my mind that just -- we're not building new substations.  We are adding to existing substations.  And I have looked at all of the work that's required in there.  It's -- yeah, of course there is -- depending on which standards you want to look at, it might be a lot of work, but in the kind of work that we do across multiple platforms, it is not a lot of work.  You get three contractors, you give them three substations, you get all of the work done.  And when there is a timeline that is fat, you figure out a way to get it done to pull it in.

MS. COOPER:  Right.  So it sounds like your solution is to condense as you have done with your own project timelines for no additional cost as you have been able to do.

MR. MAYERS:  When the time is right and when you have a specific due date, you do what is necessary to get it done.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I want to ask you about some of the evidence that was given yesterday with respect to going through the park, so the initial plan to go through the park.

I believe Ms. Tidmarsh had given testimony, I think it's at page 54 of the transcript from yesterday, comparing the access through the park between the proposed NextBridge route and the current Hydro One route.

Do you recall, that Ms. Tidmarsh?

MS. TIDMARSH:  If we could bring it up, that would be great.

MS. COOPER:  So I think it starts with -- it is going too fast.  Yes.  So at page 54 at the bottom it starts at line 23 with "we sent in -- we had a construction execution plan."

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can see that, yes.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And so just continuing on there, you said:

"We presented a plan to Parks Canada that discussed expanding the right-of-way, so similar to what Hydro One is proposing."

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Are you aware of Hydro One's project and plans for the park?  Have you reviewed them at all?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We haven't received anything, a detailed project plan.  I believe it's gone to Parks Canada, but we have not seen it.

MR. MAYERS:  Which version?

MS. COOPER:  Sorry, which --


MR. MAYERS:  Which version?

MS. COOPER:  So in the --


MR. MAYERS:  There are multiple structures that have been designed over the last couple of months.

MS. COOPER:  In terms of the footprint through the park and the evidence that's been on the record in this proceeding, have you reviewed that evidence?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So from our understanding of the evidence that's been on this record that Hydro One is expanding the right-of-way of the current line, and so my statement there is -- presents the plan to Parks Canada that discussed expanding the right-of-way, so similar to what Hydro One is proposing.  So we similarly proposed expanding the right-of-way.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And --


MR. MAYERS:  So let me clarify.  I am not sure I heard it exactly.  Bur our understanding is you're not -- Hydro One is not expanding the right-of-way.  I thought maybe the question was, when we originally looked at the project were we going to expand the right-of-way, and the answer was yes.  But my understanding is Hydro One's plan is not to expand the right-of-way.

MS. COOPER:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.  And I just want to be sure, did you just say that, Ms. Tidmarsh?  Or did you say something inconsistent with that?  I think you say that you thought they were expanding the right-of-way, which is inconsistent with what your colleague has just said.  Do you want to confer?

MR. MAYERS:  I think maybe what she is talking about is there are some impacts to the design as it currently stands that might, because of blowout issues, potentially put the -- if you were to -- blowout is a situation where you have conductors on a pole between a span, and under certain wind load conditions that conductor will move towards the edge of the right-of-way.

All utilities generally keep the conductor at its furthest point away from its attachment from going beyond that right-of-way to ensure that, one, you don't get into any vegetation that is outside of your right-of-way, and two, you don't encroach on some other property owner.

So I think maybe what she is alluding to is there's been some discussion about the concern with the design possibly not meeting the right-of-way requirement.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So, sorry, just to clarify.  "She" is Ms. Tidmarsh you're referring to?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, Ms. Tidmarsh.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And what you are saying is that she may have said that NextBridge presented a plan similar to Hydro One that involved expanding the right-of-way because she was thinking about the technical issue you just discussed and the proximity?  Is that what I'm understanding from what you just said?

MS. TIDMARSH:  And I can confirm that, yes, that is what I meant.

MS. COOPER:  Thank you.

You also said that one of the reasons why you had difficulty, in terms of securing potential approval to go through the park, was because of, I think you said it was aesthetic and potential environmental issues; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that was part of our response letter that we received from Parks Canada, that they had written that because of the park management plan and they had evaluated our plan, that because of the parks management plan and also they had identified aesthetic and environmental issues, they would not be proceeding with allowing us to study in the park.

MS. COOPER:  And what about other reasons?  Were there any legal barriers in terms of proceeding through the park for NextBridge?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We didn't go down the path of any sort of legal reasons for why we couldn't go through the park.

MS. COOPER:  Was there reference to legal reasons in the responses you received from Parks Canada with respect to why you couldn't go through the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Without seeing them, I can't -- I think there was.  I'm sorry, I can't remember the letter off by hand and if you mean by --


MS. LONG:  Do you have a document number?

MS. COOPER:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Tab 34 is a letter dated February 11, 2014.  I will just let it be pulled up here.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that is the one.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  If you turn your attention to the second paragraph, the second sentence begins:  "In addition to the legal challenges..."  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  Do you know what those legal challenges were?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the legal challenges I assume has something to do with the -- I can't assume.  Would it be that -- sorry, one moment, please.

[Witness panel confers]


MS. TIDMARSH:  So legal reasons I assume -- in addition to the legal and policy challenges, I assume that is referring to the sentence before, which would be the Parks Canada Act, Parks Canada's guiding principles and operational policies and commitments stated during public consultations on the park management plan.

MS. COOPER:  So you are making some assumptions there. But you didn't have any further conversations with Parks Canada to specifically understand what they're referring to?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we did have conversations with them about Parks Canada's guiding principles and operation policies, and we try tried to pursue -- I think we put into evidence as part of our development -- our development hearing that we continued to try and pursue going through the park up until the point of our filing to the OEB of our schedule in May of 2015, our updated schedule and cost for the extended development period.

So we did have conversations with Parks Canada and they did mention that there would be no new transmission line through the park.

MS. COOPER:  Thank you.  And I think yesterday in the evidence as well, Ms. Tidmarsh, you said something -- and I can pull up the reference if we need to, but it was something to the effect that Hydro One had only submitted information pertaining to the existing line.

Do you recall saying that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think I mentioned about the studies and that Parks Canada was doing a caribou study, because of its existing licence of occupation, I believe it is called.  I don't know the right tool here.

But because of that existing line they're allowed to go in and look at existing foundations, do existing studies around caribou, because they have a line there already.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And you are aware that a construction plan was submitted to Parks Canada back in February of 2018?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I mentioned that, yes.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.

MR. MAYERS:  But again, that was for a different structure.  I think you just recently modified your structure through the park again.

MS. COOPER:  Yes.  Really my reference in my question was because when I read through the transcript -- and I wasn't here yesterday, but when I read through it, I wasn't sure it was clear.  It sounded like there had been no construction plan submitted.

So my question was more to clarify that a construction plan was submitted.

MR. BROTT:  My understanding is one was submitted, but Parks Canada is waiting for the detailed impact assessment to approve it, because there's obviously not enough information in that plan.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  How do you know that, when you say that is my understanding?

MR. BROTT:  I presume if there was enough information in that plan they would either approve it and/or deny it.

MS. COOPER:  Are you aware if it's tied to anything else?

MR. BROTT:  No, ma'am.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I wanted to ask you a question about -- in the transcript, it is at page 39 to 40.  There is a reference -- and I think it was you, Ms. Tidmarsh, that gave some evidence with respect to the ability to rely on documentation, EA documentation, prepared by NextBridge.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  Sorry, may I just pause for a moment?  I just need some water.

MS. COOPER:  I'm sorry.  Please, go ahead.

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is getting hot over here.

MS. COOPER:  I actually have an extra bottle.

MS. LONG:  Do you need to take a break, Ms. Tidmarsh?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I will be fine, thanks.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  My apologies.  I am battling a cold.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Cooper, do you know how long you are going to be?

MS. COOPER:  I think -- just depending how quickly these questions go, I don't see being that much longer, Madam Chair.  I'm going to say maybe ten minutes; it may not even be that.

MS. LONG:  Why don't we do that?  We'll do ten minutes.  If you can get it done in ten minutes, I think that would be your allotted time, and then we will take a lunch break for an hour.

MS. COOPER:  Then I will get it done in ten minutes, if that is my allotted time.

Ms. Tidmarsh, page 39 of the transcript, just on page -- I guess it is line 9 on page 39 where it begins and this is Mr. Rubenstein saying:
"Is it NextBridge's position that the proposed course of action of Hydro One, as they're currently undertaking or expect to undertake as is the out in the evidence, raises a copyright issue?"

And you say, "It does, yes."

Have you provided that position to the MOECP?  They only like to go by MECP, I learned, so we we'll ask them that Friday.
"We have let them know the environmental assessment contains intellectual property of NextBridge's."

So I just wanted to ask you about that.  Has NextBridge ever relied in its work on studies conducted by other parties?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have, and they are footnoted and they're public documents.  So yes, we footnote them as part of our environmental assessment and they're based on other information.

MS. COOPER:  And would you copy and paste portions of that information into your EA and reference the source?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Portions, small portions to prove a point.  However, we would not rely on that information to build a transmission line.  So mostly those types of literature review would be to point to things that have happened in the past.

I am thinking of cites that talk about any of the Indigenous communities, any information that came through some of their land uses in the area.  But we would not be relying on those as something that we have not written ourselves in order to build a transmission line.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And so when you said in your evidence yesterday that you felt that it was a violation of copyright issues if Hydro One were to rely on -- not rely, but use portions of the NextBridge EA.  Is it your same view it would be a violation of copyright laws if NextBridge relied on information from another party and quoted it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think further on in the testimony, I talk about how it would be used.

And so I mentioned something about copy and pasting, right.  So I would -- without knowing how Hydro One is going to go ahead and use NextBridge's information, I do think that the information is our property.  But how they go ahead and use it, I can't surmise.

MS. COOPER:  And if it was copying and pasting, is that okay?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Without a legal opinion, I am not sure about -- I am not sure how Hydro One is going to use NextBridge's information.

MS. COOPER:  Would you copy and paste?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Would I personally copy and paste?

MS. COOPER:  Would you copy and paste into an EA document from someone else's studies?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I personally, without footnoting or not relying on it to build my transmission line, I wouldn't rely on that type of information.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And you are aware that when NextBridge prepared its east-west transmission line through the park in its initial EA back in 2013, you did precisely that, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Can you --


MS. COOPER:  You referenced a Hydro One study?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We referenced a study, yes, and included information from it and referenced it and footnoted it.

MS. COOPER:  And cut and paste?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't have it in front of me to tell.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I'm not sure know if this is a memory test or what it is.  But counsel clearly has documents she is referring to, but she doesn't put the documents to the witness or allow the witness to see the documents.

I don't think this should be a memory test.  I think it should be a fair examination.

MS. COOPER:  So in response to Mr. Cass, what I would say is I did not put into the compendium the document to which I am referring that I found.  I am certainly not trying to test Ms. Tidmarsh's memory.

But she did come out quite strongly yesterday in evidence and suggests that copying and pasting information could be a violation of copyright laws, which is a fairly strong allegation.

And I came across something where NextBridge did precisely that, and I want to put it to this witness as to whether or not that is consistent with the position she articulated yesterday in evidence.  I think it is an entirely fair question.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if counsel came across this information and it is not on the record of this proceeding, the 24-hour rule I think is quite clear that it should have been provided in advance of this cross-examination.

MS. COOPER:  That's precisely why I didn't read to her from it or put it to her, because it hadn't been provided 24 hours in advance.  I am asking her simply if she recalls ever having done that, and if she says, "No, I don't ever recall doing that," I would leave it at that.

MS. LONG:  Do you need the document to be able to answer that question?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I didn't write the document.  So the Parks Canada plan -- so I personally do not ever recall copying and pasting into a Parks Canada document.

MS. LONG:  Are you aware that NextBridge did that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I haven't seen the document.  I don't know.

MS. LONG:  Can you get a copy of the document?

MS. COOPER:  I have a snapshot, which I learned how to do yesterday on my computer, which I put into my notes.  It is a document we could probably get over the lunch hour.

MS. LONG:  Is this your last area of questioning?

MS. COOPER:  I have one more.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, why don't you -- I am going to suggest we take the lunch break now.  You can get a copy of that document, you can show it to Mr. Cass so he has seen a copy of that document, and then you can put it to the witness when we're back after lunch.  Does that work?

MS. COOPER:  Okay, that's fine.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  One hour, please.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:05 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:10 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Cooper, before we broke for lunch, you were going to take a look for a document.  Have you got that?


MS. COOPER:  Yes, Madam Chair, I did and I've provided Board Staff with some copies as well as the panel.  And my friend, Mr. Cass, has seen it as well.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass, you have seen it.  Ms. Tidmarsh, you have it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MS. LONG:  All right.  So maybe we could get a copy of it?  Oh, it's up here somewhere.

MS. COOPER:  It is a single page that says "Number 8 operations maintenance".

MS. LONG:  I see it, okay.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark that as an exhibit, Exhibit K 6.2
EXHIBIT NO. K6.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "NUMBER 8 OPERATIONS MAINTENANCE"


MS. LONG:  Then do you want to proceed with your questions?

MS. COOPER:  Yes, and I don't have very much left, Madam Chair.  I know I have gone over my time.

And I don't know, Ms. Tidmarsh, if you want to say anything further about this.  I really wasn't going to ask you anything further, but Madam Chair wanted me to get a copy, so I did so that you could see it.

If there is something further you would like to add, you are welcome to do so.

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  I think we have discussed the intellectual property copyright.  As I mentioned, you know, in my layman's common sense terms, it is my understanding that using portions of NextBridge's environmental assessment would be that, would be a copyright or intellectual property infringement.

So that is my position.

MS. COOPER:  All right.  You have no remarks with respect to what you see here?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The quote from Ontario Hydro in 1985? No, I don't.

MS. COOPER:  The quote, yes.  Okay, thank you.  I guess I have one other question on that issue which is you mentioned in your evidence yesterday that you had explained your position to MECP with respect to copyright allegations, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think copyright allegations is kind of a stronger term.  We mentioned to MECP how we don't believe portions of our environmental assessment should be used by Hydro One.

MS. COOPER:  Did you get a reaction to that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They understood our concerns, and I believe recently Hydro One wanted to come in and see portions of our draft environmental assessment.  And so MECP let us know that they were coming in, and made sure that they pulled any sort of confidential information, and that they would be there on hand while Hydro One went through the documentation.

MS. COOPER:  So you are aware that they, Hydro One, did attend and looked at some of those documents, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's my understanding.

MS. COOPER:  Okay, thank you.  The final area I have is based on some of the evidence that came out yesterday, and I am just turning to the page reference.  It is transcript pages 37 to 38, and it begins at line 20.

Mr. Rubenstein asked the panel a question, and the question begins at line 20.
"If the Board decides to grant Hydro One's leave to construct decision and not your decision -- not your project, would you still allow the NextBridge EA to continue along to its approval process?"

Ms. Tidmarsh, you responded "No", and Mr. Rubenstein said:

"Can you explain why you say that?  What would you do?"

And you answered:
"So our -- the mechanisms on how we would not progress the project or progress our environmental assessment, would be something that MOECP could discuss. However, we've put quite a lot of money at risk."

And it goes on.  I am not going to continue reading.  I just wanted for you to reference the question that you were asked and the evidence that you gave.  So I wanted to understand your position on that absolutely clearly.

So it is NextBridge's position that if it was not awarded leave to construct, it would actively withdraw the EA?  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if NextBridge didn't have a leave to construct, there would be no need for NextBridge to have an environmental assessment.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Now I understand that.  And my question is would you just leave it in play, or would you actively write to the ministry and say we with draw that, please do not consider it anymore?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that decision hasn't yet been made and again, it would be up to our legal team to determine our next steps on that.

MS. COOPER:  And can I ask -- and I am not looking for any disclosure of privileged information, but why is it up to a legal team to determine that as opposed to a company decision?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We would have to determine what the Environmental Assessment Act would say on how the mechanisms for withdrawing an environmental assessment.

And you are correct, actually.  We do need to make a company-wide decision on that as well.  But like I said, this was a hypothetical question that came just yesterday and so we've not -- we've not explored it further.

MS. COOPER:  And when you reference legal requirements, I take it that you may be referring to whether or not the Environmental Assessment Act permits a withdrawal of an EA application.  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  And I take it when you made the comments yesterday, does the company feel any obligation to ratepayers to allow the EA to play out, is there any of that element in consideration?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We've not actually discussed that as a company.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And were you involved, or anyone on the panel involved in the designation proceeding when NextBridge was named the transmitter, the designated transmitter?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I was not, and I can confer -- I
will --


MR. MAYERS:  Yes, I was.

MS. COOPER:  You were, thank you.  And in terms of that proceeding, I take it when you say you were involved, you participated in the actual proceeding?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, what do you mean by proceeding in this case?

MS. COOPER:  The application to be designated as the transmitter, the one that took place in 2013.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  From the engineering and construction perspective, yes, we supported the effort.

MS. COOPER:  All right.  And are you aware that as part of the decision that was issued by this Board, that it is a requirement to complete the process to be eligible for costs recovery?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I think I would like to be able to see that.  I assume mean from the decision and order?  To complete the process was the designation process to complete the designation process, as opposed to the complete leave to construct process?  Is that what you are referring to?

MS. COOPER:  I am referring to the decision that came out in 2013 and I appreciate, Ms. Tidmarsh, you weren't involved in that.  But the decision that ultimately designated NextBridge as the transmitter, the developing transmitter for the purposes of this project.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm sorry, I can't opine on something I can't see.  So the wording of the decision would be helpful.

MS. LONG:  Maybe you could stipulate what you mean by the word process.  I think you used the word complete the process.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I can't remember h my question was where I used that word.

MS. LONG:  To complete the process, was the designation process to complete the designation process.  And I think there may be some -- Ms. Tidmarsh might not be clear on what you meant by process.

MS. COOPER:  It may not be fair to ask Ms. Tidmarsh because I think others on the panel may have been more involved at the time.

But I am really referring to the east-west designation, so that is the Phase II decision and order that was issued.  Does that help?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It does.  It is the regulatory process and Mr. Mayers can obviously chime in.  But I don't think he is a regulatory expert that knows about the actual -- the decision and order, and without seeing it, I don't know what process or what parts you are referring to.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So I take it from that answer, then, you haven't looked at that decision to see whether or not you are obliged to complete the process and reach the milestones in order to be able to recover costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm sorry, I am still not sure what you mean by process.  Is it the designation process that led us to the filing of our leave to construct?  Or is it the complete process of the development work, plus the work to date for a leave to construct?

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So let me be clear.

The process involves the development work with the milestones and the reporting that you've been carrying out.  Initially it was monthly, and then it became quarterly.  You are familiar with those reports that were provided to the Board with respect to --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  And we completed that process by filing our leave to construct.

MS. COOPER:  Right.  But you still are working on certain milestones with respect to that process, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the process itself for designation, if you -- the procedural order, from my understanding is that it ends when you file your leave to construct.  And the activities -- so the milestones, the activities are ongoing as we have been working on them.

But the designation development phase has since been completed.  And we were to complete it, and we did.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So am I to understand from what you're saying that even though some of the milestones as part of that process involved things like completing the EA review, doing the consultations, those were all potential -- or milestones that were issued and that you reported on regularly, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yeah, I think without bringing up our milestones, I believe one of them was to work on our environmental assessment, correct.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And you filed your leave to construct when?

MS. TIDMARSH:  July 2017.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So you would not have stopped working on all of those various tasks and milestones from 2017 to date.  In fact, we know from the evidence you have been continuing to work on those things, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have in order to make sure that we can make a December 2020 in-service date and get our environmental assessment by February 2019.  We have continued to complete the environmental assessment process.

MS. COOPER:  Correct.  And my question is whether you are aware, under that order and decision, that you need to complete those milestones in order to be eligible to recover the costs.  And if you are not, it's fine to say you are not aware.  I am just asking:   Are you aware?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't interpret -- I can't interpret what's in the decision and order.  That would mean that I don't know if -- I have never seen anything that looks that black and white.  So I am unaware of that section without looking at them.

MS. COOPER:  Can you speak on behalf of NextBridge as to whether anyone else has given consideration to that issue?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't speak on behalf of anyone else at NextBridge on whether we've looked into that.  No.

MS. COOPER:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Stephenson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good afternoon, Panel.  Good afternoon, witnesses.  My name is Richard Stephenson, and I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

I do have a few questions for you.  The first thing, I just want to try to clear up as best I can some timelines in the case.  You've made reference in your evidence to the fact that sometime, I gather, during the summer of 2018 you worked with Valard, your contractor, and ultimately obtained an assurance from them that notwithstanding the sort of six-month delay in any OEB approval, you would still -- they would still be able to deliver on a December 2020 completion.  Have I got that fair?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Can you tell me as precisely as you can when you received that assurance?

MR. BROTT:  It wouldn't have been in the summer.  It would have been in September.  It wasn't that long ago.  We didn't realize everything was slipping until August 31st past, and then we started looking at these new schedules and having a discussion.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry.  So you initiated the discussion with Valard regarding the achievability of the schedule when?

MR. BROTT:  So the July 31st date that we had, you know, publicly said that we needed an approval by, slipped by.  We then pushed it to August 31st.  And in August we started to have these discussions, but not until the August 31st date slipped.  Then in September is when we really buckled down and redid the schedule.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And this assurance from Valard came about as a result of discussions with them, correct?

MR. BROTT:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And did that assurance get memorialized in any way internally at NextBridge?  Did somebody write a memo to somebody?  Did somebody send an
e-mail to somebody and say, "Hey, we've heard from Valard.  They still think that December 2020 is achievable"?

MR. BROTT:  We produced a schedule that partially is in the record.  And as we produced the schedule we had the discussions, and everybody was comfortable with the plus or minus 10 percent bandwidth to meet that schedule.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That is not my question.  My question was, was the assurance from Valard memorialized within NextBridge?  Was there some reporting in writing to somebody within NextBridge about the fact they had given you that assurance?

MR. MAYERS:  No.  We do work with Valard, with Quanta, their parent company, all of their other companies under them.  So, I mean, their executives at the highest level meet with our company all the time.  They're in Florida quite often.  And the discussions have come up, and the assurance is from our contractor that they were going to support this project and bring it in-service December 2020.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I just want to be very clear --


MR. MAYERS:  There is no e-mail traffic.  There is no report.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not talking about an e-mail or a document going from NextBridge to Valard.  That is not what I am talking about.  I am asking for an internal communication within NextBridge from somebody that was involved in the conversation or the discussions confirming back to anybody else in the company that, hey, we've got this assurance.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, so I can talk about, there was obviously a telephone -- as project director, the conversations were had with Valard, with our engineering and construction team.  And we had a conversation, and they gave me the assurance that they are still able to make a December 2020 in-service date.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am going to keep asking this question until I get an answer.  The question is very clear.  My question is:  Did you memorialize that confirmation between people in NextBridge in writing?  That is my question.

MR. MAYERS:  No, we have not.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry.  Let --


MR. MAYERS:  The answer is, no, we have not.

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.

MR. STEPHENSON:  How do you find out about it?  You just chatted?

MR. MAYERS:  As I said, our executives talk all the time.  And then from our perspective, our team on the NextBridge side spoke to the vice-president of engineering and construction, who then spoke to the executive vice-president of engineering and construction, who had spoken to the Valard executive, and the decision was made that we're in this.  We are going to continue in this.  And your date and your costs are good at this point in time.

MS. TIDMARSH:  To be clear as well, that schedule that's part of IR number 49 was not created in a vacuum solely by NextBridge.  So the inputs for the construction part of that schedule are a result of conversations with Valard and what Valard can do.

So I understand your question is, was there something, like, memorialized the conversation.  There is nothing.  But the results of those conversations are a collaborative schedule in IR number 49 that NextBridge has put together with Valard.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So if I go on the NextBridge server, I will not be able to find a single e-mail between any two employees of NextBridge talking about the fact that you've got this assurance?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So to be clear, you just asked me if I was -- if it was memorialized or there was a report, and you weren't talking about e-mail traffic, and so --


MR. STEPHENSON:  No, no, no, no, no, I said was it memorialized in any written form as between any two individuals within NextBridge.  That is my question.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the answer is no.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  You guys have an interesting way to run a business.  All right.

Let me then just proceed to the end.  In my -- I produced a compendium, and I would like to perhaps get that marked as the next exhibit.  I hope that the Panel has got it?

MS. LONG:  We do.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K6.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.3:  PWU CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you very much.

In the last three pages of my compendium is the only part of the document that is not out of your interrogatory responses.  This is a document that we created.  And all we've attempted to do here is to take the information that is contained in your originally filed project schedule and your -- the updated project schedule that you filed subsequently.  And those documents appear in the preceding pages.

Then we have added one column.  We have put the two columns with the various dates together, and then we have added one column that -- where we tried to quantify the difference between the two dates.  Has anybody had a chance to look at that document?  If the answer is no, fine.

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  What I would ask -- and I know this is an undertaking, but if you have a problem -- the only reason we prepared this is because it is so difficult flipping back between the two documents, and it was just much easier if it is in one place so we understand how the schedule has shifted.

I would just like you to take -- somebody to take a look at it and to confirm whether you are comfortable that what we've done is accurate.  And if it's not accurate, to explain what would be accurate.  Could you do that for me?

MS. LONG:  You want the witnesses to look at every cell in here?  Are you going to focus on any?  Because I would actually like them to take the time right now to look at your top, the regulatory, and see if there is any -- if you disagree with that.  I think that is fairly easy to do, and then perhaps they could take the rest away with them to consider.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure.

MS. LONG:  We have covered a lot of ground on permits, so I am suspecting you are not going through that?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am really not.  It is more the construction and the regulatory that I am concerned about.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So can we take just a moment just to confer?

MS. LONG:  Sure.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. LONG:  Mr. Stephenson, is the panel seeing this for the first time?  This was not provided 24 hours in advance?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I sent my compendium out yesterday morning.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I indicated when I sent it that this was material that was new to them, these specific pages.

MS. LONG:  All right.  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We're prepared to talk to it.

MS. LONG:  You can talk to it now?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So if I can, the thing -- starting first with the regulatory issues, is it fair to say -- I mean, I think it is pretty obvious your target is six months change with respect to your anticipated receipt of the leave to construct.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  What about the, again the authorization -- authority to expropriate and the approved plan of expropriation?  Two months in each case?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So there is two months difference.  There is also a footnote here that I don't know if it managed to -- it did, it's on your last page here.  So it talks about, based on an expedited OEB process to review and approve the limited expropriation application.

So NextBridge evaluated the number of expropriations that it would need for this line and determined, based on that, that we have a lower number since all of the work we have been doing for the past five years of expropriations and that it was possible for us to shorten this timeline.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then if I could go over to the engineering and construction section, and -- I am not quite sure why this was the case -- there wasn't a complete true-up in the information that you provided between the two different tables, and hence we have a bunch of empty cells.

But in terms of commencing clearing and access, the earliest date you gave in the updated material was Q4 2019 for segment C, which, as I understood it, was 12 months off.  You can confirm that is accurate?

MR. BROTT:  That is in segment C?  That is in a work front, work front 6, which we call the caribou zone.

The caribou is a critical species and so we have timing windows there, so that was a critical work front, which is why segment C is in here.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The problem that we have with respect -- segment C, it turns out, is the only segment where we had dates for both your original and your updated schedule.

And I guess my question that I have is, is it possible for you to fill in the cells that we don't have the information for that wasn't provided, so we can figure out how much shift there is there?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Are you asking for an undertaking, or for us to do that verbally now?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't want you to do it on the fly.  I think that is unfair, so yes as an undertaking.  Surely you have that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We do have that information, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Could I get that undertaking?

MS. LONG:  What do you need it for, Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well --


MS. LONG:  Tell me the relevance.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, the issue is the realism of the schedule.  That is -- the one thing which has been anchored here is the end date.  But you will so there is movement in virtually every other element of the schedule.

So the point really is what degree of comfort and confidence can the Board have, insofar as the end date is important to NextBridge, that they're actually going to achieve that.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I could offer a comment?  I am not necessarily looking to object to this, if the Board thinks it would be helpful.  My concern though is if this data gets filled in by way of an undertaking response and then there is no evidentiary explanation of what's gone into this, it then becomes a tool that's really just used in argument.  And I am quite concerned about where that could go when there is no -- when there's been no evidence explaining the inputs that go into this table, other than just filling in the boxes themselves.

So I do have a concern around where this would go in argument without more evidentiary foundation.  Again, if the Board feels it is helpful, I don't want to sound like I am obstructing that.  But I am concerned about how this would be used.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.  That is my concern as well.  There would be no opportunity for them to explain.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, this -- just to be clear, this document is not some magic that we have done.  It is derived out of two interrogatory responses.  And they can input -- you know, it is provided that -- all we want is the same information they have already provided, except they omitted to fill it in, in one document or the other.  That's all.

I don't want it any more or less detailed than they originally provided.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Just to be clear, the end point will still be December 2020.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That point is abundantly cleared.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  And so the extra detail that you are seeking -- I can have Mr. Mayers talk to how the schedule was put together, and if there are underlying documents that were put together with Valard and with NextBridge to come up with those dates.

MR. MAYERS:  I think we have said it.  You know, again and again, that we have -- we had a schedule.  We have segments.  We have sub segments.  We're moving those segments around.

Nothing has changed in the scope.  We are -- it's going to be an adjustment to the schedule.  That's it.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I have no questions for you about that.  I just want to know what they are, that's all.  You have provided a bunch of information and yet you put in a bunch of gaps.  I just want you to fill in the gaps, that's all.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  I will allow the undertaking because it seems like this information was missing from a previous undertaking.  But I guess the caveat there -- excuse me, I also have a cold -- footnote number 5 states that construction milestones will be renegotiated on approval of the LTC.

So do I understand that these numbers, these --


MR. MAYERS:  This goes back to my comment earlier this morning where it is semantics.

If you want to use "renegotiation" in this case, we have it open up the contract to modify the milestones.  That's what is meant.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just to be clear, insofar as there is a qualification on your ability to put in a precise date on anything, I am not suggesting you should be limited in that fashion.  All I am asking is for your best available information as it exists at this date with respect to the items, that's all.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J6.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.1:  TO PROVIDE BEST AVAILABLE INFORMATION TO COMPLETE THE TABLE AT THE LAST THREE PAGES OF EXHIBIT NO. K6.3

MR. STEPHENSON:  I just want to circle back around now to this issue about dealing with Valard for a minute.

As of no later than July 19, 2018, you knew you weren't going to get a July 30th approval from the Board on the leave to construct.  Right?  That is the date that the motion to strike the HONI application was dismissed.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that's correct.  We also knew that we have one month of float, which was part of our testimony, and also it's been part of our schedule.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But you knew at that point in time the Board was going to have to reconfigure this approval process in some manner, and surely you understood that that wasn't going to happen such that you were going to get an approval by August the 31st, right?  You didn't have that as your expectation?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was a potential.  There may have -- I don't know what the Board was -- what the plans were for the Board, so I can't surmise, but there could have been a potential for that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Then certainly by August the 13th you received Procedural Order No. 1 in the combined hearing.  And by that point in time there is no remaining doubt at all.  Correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  At that point we knew that there would be a combined hearing, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And you also knew -- I am sure you went out and talked to Mr. Cass and you talked to other people -- how long that was likely to take.  You knew you weren't going to get a decision by the end of August.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we knew we would not be getting a decision by the end of August.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And in fact, you knew that the reasonable prospect was the end of the year, right?  That was your best guess.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't think we can surmise what I knew and what I didn't know.  I think we knew at the time, at August, that when we got our first procedural order of what the schedule would be, and I can't surmise on when a decision would have been reached.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Can I get you to turn to page 8 of the compendium.  This is the same letter that you have been referred to on a number of occasions.  So July 24 you write to the ministers, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can see that, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the reason you are writing to the ministers is, on July 24th you know that the regulatory approval process has gotten delayed.  And so you are moving to plan B, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, what is plan B?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, plan B is the last paragraph on page 2 of the letter, page 9 of the compendium.  I mean, you put forward a specific proposal to the ministers; in fact, two of them.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That is plan B, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, so the first part here is to urge the OEB to make a decision on our application by the end of August 2018.  So we still at this point in July.  And then the second part was consider designating NextBridge as the licensed transmitter to undertake the project.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Ministerial intervention is plan B, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was our request to the ministers.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I take it you understood the need, if you were seeking ministerial intervention, to provide them with complete and accurate information in support of your request; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  You can see further on in the letter:

"We hope we are able to meet with you in the near future to discuss our project and commitment to the north in further detail."

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And we also ask if they have any questions, don't hesitate to contact us.  And, yes, we knew that in order to ensure that the project moved ahead by December 2020, we wanted to expedite conversations with the ministers.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Now, at the time you wrote this letter, you knew that at least it was Hydro One's position that the stations could not be completed in a time that would allow the line to go in-service by December 2020, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So by the time we wrote this letter -- you can see the date of the letter is July 24th.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  The meetings that we had with Hydro One and with MECP was July 27th.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But you had the June 27th letter.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the June 27th letter is not a definitive indication in NextBridge's eyes.  There was a probability that also included further discussions needed to happen, and so NextBridge, again, because of that letter was not fully aware that HONI could not make the station work by December of 2020.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The letter says what it says.  We are not going to review it again.  But didn't you think that if you are asking the minister to make a -- an intervention on what is otherwise an ongoing regulatory process, that it was -- to be fair to the minister, it would be appropriate to alert the minister that even if he made the designation you are seeking, there was a, apparently, a real probability that the line wouldn't be in-service on the date you are seeking anyway.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge continues to maintain that there was not a real probability that the station work would not come into service in time for the East-West Tie to make a December 2020 in-service date.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So that was not something that was relevant to the minister?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That was not part -- you can see in here there is a discussion, the section asking for further discussion.  So this letter is about NextBridge's project.  It is not about --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  No.  But the whole point of the ministerial intervention is to get the project in-service in December 2020, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Similar to the order in council that was originally done --


MR. STEPHENSON:  So the answer is yes, right?

MS. LONG:  Please let Ms. Tidmarsh finish her answer.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Did you ever get a response to the letter?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I received -- I did not receive a response to the letter.  However, we have had conversations with the Ministry of Energy.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And have they given you any indication as to their position regarding your request to be designated as the transmitter?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we have had conversations about the need to get the line and to move the project forward.  And to date we don't have that order in council from the government.  So I would assume at this point then they did not want to send -- or they did not want to issue an order in council for that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Have you ever updated the minister with respect to your new information regarding the fact that you don't need a ministerial directive in order to get the project completed by December 2020?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the minister's office, we have never spoken directly to the minister.  So conversations we've had with the Ministry of Energy, we have informed them that our schedule is a December 2020 in-service date.  And so they know that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  So this letter is -- it is just no longer accurate, right?  It has been superseded by subsequent events.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Our rescheduling exercise that ensured that we made December 2020, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But you've never sent them a written indication that you are withdrawing your request or the information that you provided previously is no longer accurate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't know why we would actually withdraw the request.  I think it is important for the project to move forward with the proponent that can make a December 2020 in-service date, and NextBridge is the proponent that makes a December 2020 in-service date.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me just ask you about that.  Why is it so important to NextBridge to hold the December 2020 in-service date?  I can tell you, nobody else in the room seems to care about it.  Why do you care?

MS. WALDING:  I'm pretty sure the IESO cared --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well --


MS. WALDING:  -- and not only that, the IESO provided economic consequences to the customers of Ontario if the 2020 in-service date was not reached.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I understand that, but we had them here this week, and they, you know, they seemed fully aware of the fact that there is a serious probability that this isn't going to be in December 2020.  And there was no house on fire from those folks.

MS. WALDING:  But that doesn't offset the economic penalty to the customers.

MR. STEPHENSON:  No, no, there is a difference between good to have and this is a mission critical thing.  Like, the Board has said -- this Board has said December 2020 is not a part of the OIC.  You don't seem to -- you folks came to consider -- to continue to consider that it is part of the OIC.  I don't understand that.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I don't know what Mr. Stephenson is talking about, because 2020 is in the order in council.  I can't understand how he can say it is not a part of it.  One can certainly read the order in council in different ways, I suppose, but I don't think there is any way of reading it to understand that 2020 is not a part of it.  It is in there.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the Board has --


MR. MAYERS:  The IESO did not come off the December 2020 date.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I hear you.  They prefer 2020.  I understand that; everybody understands that.


But this Board on July 19 specifically ruled about the meaning of the OIC and the significance of a December 2020 date in that document.  You are aware of that, right?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Would it be possible for you to pull that document up, please?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, it is not in my compendium, but I mean is there any mystery about what the Board ruled?  It was the basis upon which your motion was dismissed.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Stephenson, your proposition that no one in this room cares about the December 2020 in-service date except for NextBridge is something that we do not accept.  In fact, I am rather astounded by it.  I am astounded to hear you speak for the Board, for example, and say that they don't care about December 2020.  I am not aware of that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, I think the Board has -- the Board's ruling of July 19th speaks for itself.  I think that's fair and we can all agree with that.


But the Board, in my submission, make it very clear that December 2020 was not a presupposition for this line. That was the basis upon which the motion was dismissed.


In any event, let me just carry on.


MR. BROTT:  I think this line of questioning is only relevant if you realize that Hydro One can't make 2020.  Because we can still make it and we plan to.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I understand that.  But let's put it this way.  If you get your line done by July 1, 2021, you are still first, right?  Like, what's the big deal?


MR. BROTT:  I think we made it clear in our testimony that we think there's fat in the Hydro One schedule for their substations, and that that could likely be done in 2020 as well.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, just a moment.  I think what I would like to clarify is -- and I believe I said this many times before, and I'm sorry if this frustrate you --


MR. STEPHENSON:  It doesn't frustrate me, sorry.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Oh, okay, that the IESO, in both needs assessments and the update, has said a December 2020 in-service.


The order in council that still stands, that came from the government, the policy, is a December 2020 in-service date.


NextBridge has not received any instruction to move off a December 2020 in-service date.


You can also see that it's been part of our filed evidence, there are 17 letters of support from municipalities and groups all throughout northwestern Ontario who are relying on a 2020 in-service date for the economic development of the region.


You have also heard from multiple Indigenous communities, who are waiting for jobs and contracting, to ensure that this line gets built and moves forward by December 2020.


And so to say that no one cares I don't think is actually relevant.


MS. WALDING:  In addition to that, what we also discussed yesterday is not only is there IESO costs, but there's also carrying charges that the customers will have to pay if the Hydro One station upgrades are not done in time.


So there are significant economic reasons why the line should move forward, too, not only in addition to the support in the order.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Can I get you to turn to page 4 of my compendium, please?


What we've got here is -- I believe it is a NextBridge document called "Comparison of NextBridge's East-West Tie project to Hydro One's Lake Superior Link Project".  Have you got that?


MS. TIDMARSH:  We do, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Who is the author of this document?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So it was collectively done by the members of this panel.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And what is the date of it?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I think probably -- I mean, subject to check, I believe it was the end of July.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  It's got to be later than that.  If I can take you to page 5 of the compendium, footnote 3.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Okay.  Oh, so it would be then.


MR. STEPHENSON:  It's got to be some date after August 2nd.  Does that assist you?


MS. WALDING:  There was a date -- if you printed off this whole response, there was a date in the letter that was attached to this that you can see.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  You can't help me any further just looking at the document today?


MS. WALDING:  Well, yes, I can.  I can look at the full response, I have it here.


MS. TIDMARSH:  It was originally created sometime in August, I think.  And the e-mail that it is attached to -- it wasn't created just for that purpose.  So for clarity, this was created at the behest of our stakeholders.  So a lot of our stakeholders were concerned about -- they don't understand the difference between the Lake Superior Link and the East-West Tie.  And so they didn't understand the differences between the two, while the municipalities wanted to know the difference and understand it, including Indigenous communities.


And so we put together this document to show the differences between those two.


MS. WALDING:  And the letter was August 31st.  So it was around that time frame.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Can you just help me with this August 2nd letter to Premier Ford?


I was not able to find it in your materials and I don't believe it's been produced.


MS. TIDMARSH:  It has not been produced, no.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And why is that?


MS. TIDMARSH:  We weren't asked to provide correspondence between ourselves and the provincial -- and the Ministry of Energy.


We were asked to provide correspondence between ourselves and the Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Is it essentially the same as the letter to the ministers from July 24th?  Or is there any material differences?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Without having it in front of me, subject to check, I would assume it would be a similar letter.  But again, I don't have it in front of me.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Is there a problem in you producing it for us?


MS. LONG:  Can you speak to the contents of it?  I am really trying to get away from a lot of material being filed at the eleventh hour, so you can speak to the general contents.


MS. TIDMARSH:  The general contents would be similar to the one that was filed with minister Phillips and Minister Rickford.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I am assuming it would have reiterated your request for ministerial intervention.


MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't believe it did, actually.  I think it was just -- the letter was a discussion, or  informing them about the East-West Tie project, informing them that the process had been delayed, and informing them that we would like to meet to discuss it.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I think you did say -- yes, this document was provided to your stakeholders, correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  This multi-coloured, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, okay.  And in my compendium at page 11, you will see a three-page letter dated July 27th, 2018, to Minister Rickford from Supercom.  Do you see that?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it Supercom would be -- you would consider them to be one of your stakeholders?


MS. TIDMARSH:  They're beyond a stakeholder.  Their communities are a project partner of ours.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure, okay.  And is this -- would you have been given a draft of this document to review prior to it being sent?


MS. TIDMARSH:  This letter?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.


MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  This letter was written by Chief Matt Dupuis.  So we received copies of it, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you didn't have any difficulty with its content.  There was nothing in it that caused you concern, alarm, or otherwise?


MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  In fact, they asked us some questions when they were trying to put it together.


MR. STEPHENSON:  So they had some input from you. And I assume at least part of the input was the document that we just looked at, the one that was sent to stakeholders, right?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I didn't send them that document, no.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Oh, okay.  All right.  Then if I can go to page 14 of the compendium, there is a letter dated August 20th from the Thunder Bay chamber of commerce to Minister Rickford.  Do you see that?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And obviously I see you are cc'd on the document.  Did you have any input to a draft of this document before it was sent?


MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I didn't.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But I take it you had no concern about its content?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I didn't.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.


MS. TIDMARSH:  In fact, we had probably -- and I would put -- subject to check on my e-mail, the date of this is August 20th.  So we probably would have sent the Thunder Bay Chamber of Commerce, and may perhaps have received that colourful stakeholder document you're talking about.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, got it.  Then if you go over the page to page 15 of the compendium, there's another letter from the chamber of commerce dated September 19th, 2018, again to Minister Rickford.  Do you see that?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And essentially, the same questions.  I take it you didn't have any input into this by way of reviewing a draft, correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I did not.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you did receive it, I take it?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I did.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you had no problem with its content?  You were --


MS. TIDMARSH:  I know you keep saying I have no problem with its content.  So the letters are written by individuals that I have had no part of writing these letters.  And so if you would like me to read them now, again, to ensure I have no problem with it, I could, but I don't see how a letter written by somebody else if I have a problem with it or not is germane.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, was the Thunder Bay Chamber of Commerce one of your stakeholders?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So they're writing a letter of support, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  For your project, and they're writing it to the minister, and they are essentially reiterating the message that you contained in your July 24th memo or letter to the ministers, right, seeking ministerial intervention.  That is what this is about, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Supporting, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It is more than that.  Seeking ministerial intervention, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But -- and if you receive a copy of this and you know that one of your stakeholders is saying something that you think is problematic or inaccurate, I assume you would either talk to your -- to the stakeholder or you would talk to the minister and say, "Whoa, whoa, whoa, just to be clear, here's the straight goods."  You would do that, wouldn't you?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, so there is no problem that I have in this, and I also think we still -- we've never come back from asking the minister's office if it was potential for us to get an order in council to make us the licensed transmitter on this project.  So there is nothing on this that I would go back to the minister's office and say that that is not what NextBridge is looking for.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Just quickly, starting at page 18 of the compendium, I've enclosed the two board of directors presentations that you provided.  One is from July 20, and then on page 22 you will see is the -- starting there is the August 10?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  By August the 10th for sure you knew that there was -- you had a problem with respect to the date of your regulatory approval.  Right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So remind me again why I knew for sure on August the 10th.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, on July the 19th, your motion to dismiss the HONI application is dismissed, and you've got that.  Okay?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you are now, let's put it this way, you are now in August, is the biggest reason you've got a problem.  You had been anticipating getting approval by the end of July.  We can agree that wasn't possible in August?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We had anticipated end of July, then we moved it with the one-month float to August --


MR. STEPHENSON:  I get it.  But you also know that you're not going to get a board approval with a snap of a finger, right?  It is going to take some time.  You don't know how long, but it is going to take some time, measured in months.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So had you alerted your board to the fact that you've run into a delay on regulatory approval?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the Board was aware that we did not get our leave to construct on July 31st, obviously.

The Board was aware that we were continuing to pursue working with the minister to potentially get an order in council on the project.  And so that would make NextBridge the designated transmitter and confirm a December 2020 in-service date.

MR. STEPHENSON:  None of that is in the presentation, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We weren't asked to provide full board decks, so we were asked to provide -- the reason these board decks are here is that they are part of the variance analysis piece.  And so the conversations we've had at the board, none of the board decks contain anything that talks about -- anything that talks about updating our schedule or updating our costs.  Those conversations haven't happened at a board level.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I just want to make -- I did hear you, but I want to make sure I understood that.

Are you saying that there is a larger board deck that hasn't been produced?  Or are you saying that there was a larger discussion -- this is the board deck and there was a larger discussion?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So there is a larger discussion that isn't part of board decks.  So we have had conversations about -- so conversations with board members about not receiving our leave to construct by August 31st, conversations with board members about pursuing an order in council.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I certainly understand that.  But let me come back to the other question.  Is there a larger board deck than this?  Is this a subset of a bigger board deck?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  Our board of directors decks, so these were produced as part of a discussion about our variance analysis.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, believe me, I am not looking for undertakings, but I was under -- operating under a misapprehension, I don't know whether the Board was operating under a misapprehension, that there was a -- this document is just a subset of what the NextBridge board of directors got.

I am in the Board's hands.  If they think it would be useful to them to have the complete board presentation, then I am happy to ask for the undertaking.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I would observe that NextBridge has answered the questions that were asked.  At this time to now broaden the questions beyond the variance analysis that Ms. Tidmarsh is referring to is something that could have been asked much earlier in this proceeding.  It didn't happen.

MS. LONG:  Where is the question?

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.

MS. LONG:  Where is the question that was asked?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as part of the -- sorry, just to make it clear as well.  So one of the interrogatories that we got was to ask for any reports to our board of directors, any information that went to our board of directors about change of costs, change of in-service date.  And so I have gone through all of our board of directors' decks, and none of that information is in any of the Board decks.

These board decks were a part of Staff 55 question about our variance analysis.  And so the Board decks
that -- these are financials from those board decks, the Board decks I have gone through, and they contain other information about the project.  So there is nothing in -- if Mr. Stephenson is looking for something that NextBridge changed its project cost or changed its in-service date or changed anything like that, that was already asked to us in an IR, and we responded to it because we have been through these board decks, and nothing of that nature is contained in them, if that is helpful.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, if I can.

If you go to page 26 of my compendium, you will see there is -- Hydro One Interrogatory No. 12 is there.  And they ask a series of questions, (a) through (e).  And item (d), "has NextBridge prepared a report to its senior management and/or its board of directors and/or shareholders on the following", and then there are three items:  Delays in the in-service date and the construction period, changes in the forecast cost of construction, overall project costs.

And then (e), "provide copies of all reports on any of the topics identified above" --


MS. TIDMARSH:  That is what I am referring to, is this is the IR that we went through, and we went through all of our board decks, and in our board decks there are nothing that talks about the delay of the in-service date or the construction period.  There is nothing in the changes to the forecast for the cost of construction, and nothing in the changes of the overall project costs in the Board decks.

MS. LONG:  Well, if that is Ms. Tidmarsh's evidence, Mr. Stephenson, I am satisfied with that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That's fine.  If that's what the answer is, that's what the answer is.  I am just about done.

Okay.  Just one last item.  It is also in relation to the same interrogatory we were just looking at, which is Hydro One Interrogatory No. 12, at page 26 of the compendium.

This is just the business about the change order.  And at the time that this interrogatory was written, obviously NextBridge contemplated the possibility of a change order.  Right?  And I know that subsequently you determined you didn't need it, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  A change order?  Sorry, Dan, you can go.

MR. MAYERS:  I apologize.  This is in relation to the same question we've answered before.  The answer is still the same.  The change order was related to the milestones that needed to be adjusted in the contract.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So this -- I see, I see.  I misunderstood.

So this answer, which is answer (a) to Interrogatory No. 12, remains an accurate answer?  This has not been updated, is that correct?  You have explained it by saying it is about milestones only, right?

MS. WALDING:  Well, it says that towards the last part of that sentence.  It says "relative to a new construction schedule."

MR. STEPHENSON:  I understand that, but it says a lot more than that.  You know, I mean if you read -- it is a very long answer and it talks about a lot more than milestones.

But do you stand by this answer as being accurate as of today?  Or are you modifying it in any way?

MR. MAYERS:  I have no reason to change my answer.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry.  When you say my answer --


MR. MAYERS:  Those are the words --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Any changes to (a)?

MR. MAYERS:  The answer is no.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We are standing by this answer.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, got it.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. Murray, I have you down for an hour.  Did you want to -- oh, Mr. Garner.  Sorry, I have you off my list, which is obviously an error.

MR. GARNER:  Or maybe not.

[Laughter]

MS. LONG:  Or maybe not.  I'm sorry I don't have a time estimate for you.  Can you advise me what it is?

MR. GARNER:  I believe my time estimate was 45 minutes.  Although, with your indulgence, I may sneak a little bit of time that CCC has put in and is now not going to use.  But I still hope to stay within my 45 minutes.

MS. LONG:  Why don't we take our 15-minute break until 3:30, and then you are up at 3:30.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I may just before the break, Mr. Russo has been staying here today.  I did indicate to the panel this morning that he would stay.

I don't believe anybody has any questions for him.  So as long as that is the case, perhaps we could let him go.

MS. LONG:  I think he can be excused.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
--- Recess taken at 3:15 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:37 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Garner.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Mark Garner.  I am a consultant with VECC.  I think we have all met before.

The first thing I want to start off with, I want to talk about the stations.  And in particular, I want to talk to you, Mr. Mayers.

And in looking at this, I went through your resume, and I just want to talk to you about your resume and your experience.

I saw, I will put it this way, about 20 years of station and substation experience that you have.  Is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, it is.

MR. GARNER:  And you have been involved in the building of a number of stations?

MR. MAYERS:  A couple hundred.

MR. GARNER:  A couple hundred?  Both in the U.S. south and in colder regions of both the U.S. and Canada?

MR. MAYERS:  And probably in about, yeah, 15 states and Ontario and Alberta, yes.

MR. GARNER:  So this morning Mr. Warren was speaking, and he was speaking, I think the word is "ancient law", and I don't know what ancient law is.  I'm a bit ancient.  But one of the things he was suggesting was that there was no debate about the schedule of the stations.  And of course I had asked, and Hydro One is about to prepare new schedules for those stations.  But one of the things I wanted to bring you to -- you were saying that you weren't here to hear the testimony which -- of the panel or my cross-examination of that issue, which I found scintillating, but apparently Mr. Warren nodded off in -- because I wanted to bring you to the transcript at -- and I have asked Ms. Allman to bring this up -- at Volume 4.  And Ms. Allman, it is at page 10 of the transcript, or 17 of the PDF file.  I wonder if you could bring that up.

And in this discussion with Mr. Reinmuller, I was having a discussion about looking at one of the schedules for the Marathon plant.  I was having a discussion about what I saw was the length of time between preparation work and when the footings were being done.

And if you go through that area of the transcript, I talk about whether, in fact, footings could be done in the winter, whether they could do other remedies.  And if you look at that, I think, for instance, if we look at page 9, which is on page 16, Mr. Reinmuller says:

"Basically, depending on the weather, between December and early January or end of February, there is no concrete work allowed.  There could be concrete work done, et cetera..."

Now when you were speaking about, in quotes, "the fat in the schedule", was that the type of thing you were speaking about, the ability to do work if you advance it by using other expensive techniques, more expensive techniques?

MR. MAYERS:  More or less, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So what I put to Mr. Reinmuller, and this is at page 11 of the transcript, was that with sufficient resources, planning, et cetera, putting more money to the job, they may be able to advance that schedule.  And I think he talks there about, you know, a discussion we had with the project manager, to crash the schedule, even double up the months, meaning double up crews, so it seems to me he is suggesting there might be ways of advancing the schedule, but it would be a costly exercise or cost more.  Would you agree with that?

MR. MAYERS:  It is possible, but I'm pretty sure I saw that their cost estimate for the three projects was in the neighbourhood of $150 million.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I think it is 100 -- in the evidence, 157-point-something, somewhere in that area.  Would you have any thoughts on how much advancing a job in order to do, for instance, winter work, et cetera, might be on a substation?  Would you have any idea of what that might be?

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, no, I really can't speak to that.  I can't give you the specifics.  I can tell you that we do work all the time in heavy cold winter areas.  We do a number of wind farms in North Dakota, and our guys work throughout the winter, whether it is the wind farm foundations which are quite large and require very detailed, not only design, but the actual operation of the concrete-pouring is very critical.

We also build substations during that same time frame and transmission lines.  That is North, South Dakota, Iowa, I mean, where they can see some of the same conditions, as well as some of the same impediments put upon transportation because of, you know, thaw -- spring thaw issues.

But, you know, when I look at the amount of money that is available to rebuild three substations and $157 million, I would have thought that they had already covered -- more than covered any type of acceleration work or any type of expensive work that would be required to complete the substation work, yes, the substation foundation work, no matter what time of year.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And as I understand it, we tend to -- as I follow this along, people are tending to use the substations in the singular.  But in fact, there are three substations.  And one of those substations, the one that seems to be under the most scrutiny, is Marathon, because of the EA, and Wawa has some issues.  But the Lakehead substation is in fact, as I understand it, all of the work is being done in the existing yard of the Hydro One station.  Is that your understanding?

MR. MAYERS:  I believe on the west side, I believe our lines are coming down the west side.  So if there's expansion requirements it may be well with inside the fence.  I know at Marathon I think there is 12 acres of land that has to be cleared on the north side of it, and then at Wawa there is some expansion work and some transmission line reroutes.

But these are, yeah, these are rebuilds.  These aren't -- I mean, there are some complications when you do work at a -- an existing substation, but, you know, for the most part when you are adding new bays, in this case
diameters -- that Hydro One uses the term "diameters", which are bays -- when you are adding completely new bays, a lot of that construction could be done in the open by itself without impacting other areas of the substation, and it can be worked safely as long as you rope it off, flag it, have, you know, safety measures in place, and any good competent contractor does that kind of work all the time.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And with respect to the Lakehead and the west-end line, is there any advantage in maintaining schedules in connecting it to that station, even though you haven't connected to other stations, even if it is not live, in order just to keep your schedule
on -- to make everything go live as early as possible?  Is there any advantage to making sure the work at the west end is completed as soon as possible?

MR. MAYERS:  Not without a means to connect it at Marathon, no.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

The other thing I wanted to ask you about, in your opening statements you spoke about Nextra's (sic) experience.  And I took a look at the website, and I am sure that is not the vault of all information for Nextra, but I didn't notice a lot of transmission projects by that company.  So I would like you to correct me if I am wrong.

Have you and the company that you are working with done transmission, similar type of length of transmission lines before?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, of course.  I'm sorry, you said Nextra.  It is NextEra Energy --


MR. GARNER:  NextEra, pardon me.

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, your question was, do we do --


MR. GARNER:  Yeah, do you have experience in doing these type of lines, 400 kilometre --


MR. MAYERS:  Absolutely.  I think, as we have submitted in our evidence, there was a question that was asked about projects over 400 million, and the last really large project, almost $800 million project, was our Lone Star project in Texas, where we were a new competitor in the market.  We were able to build over 330 miles of double-circuit 345 kV line, five substations, two of which were series compensation stations.  We had four encore lines at one station, two -- four lines at another station, two AP, two encore, and the third line that we had two encore sub -- two encore lines terminating.

So we're well-versed in interconnections.  We are well-versed in transmission.  But that particular job -- and it is also in the evidence -- came in almost 60 million under.  And we did the entire project, all five substations, 330 miles, in 19 months.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

And this may be for you, Ms. Tidmarsh.  I take it to be very clear, your position is it is your obligation to get the line finished by December 2020.  It is Hydro One's obligation to get the stations completed in time for you to make those connections.  Right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And it has turned out quite potentially inconvenient for you, but not quite as inconvenient for Hydro One's schedule.  Is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That could be the impression that one draws.

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  On the issue about delay, because I want to talk about timing, one of the discussions I had with the Hydro One people was the issue about moving through the park in their plan.

And I was testing or wondering about the potential for significant delay, and they -- we were speaking about the drop of towers in through the park and the helicopter and the equipment.

Have you ever done that type of work, bringing in large helicopters, putting in towers into remote areas in your experience?  Have you done that type of work also?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, you're asking -- said Ms. Tidmarsh?


MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry, Mr. Mayers, I'm asking you this question, yes.

MR. MAYERS:  Have we used the large skycrane type
of --


MR. GARNER:  Yes, skycranes, done that type of work they were talking about -- that SNC-Lavalin was talking about.

MR. MAYERS:  No.  When we were looking at this project, we were initially starting the engineering and working through how we were going to do this work.  You know, we had anticipated we were going to use a lot of helicopter construction at that time.

After we got our bids in, there was a lot of concern about the weather conditions here and the use of helicopters.

So the combination of the contractor, in this case Valard, we had them submit both types of bids, a regular --having to use ground access, and having to use helicopter access.  And their choice was, and it was also a lower cost, was to use a ground-base access system for, they felt, safety.  And overall it was lower cost and there was a less risk for schedule impacts because the helicopter wasn't going to be grounded by high winds, or heavy weather, or fog or -- in this particular case Valard is, you know, they will be able to work throughout the year.

MR. GARNER:  Right, thank you.  I think you answered a different question, but quite helpful to where I am going.  My question, though, was have you had and your company had the experience of utilizing the same type of equipment in other jobs in putting in that type of infrastructure via skycrane, helicopters into remote areas?  Have you worked on any projects that have used that type of equipment and engineering?

MR. MAYERS:  To my knowledge, no.  We use helicopters a lot.  Helicopters are used for stringing line.

MR. GARNER:  Stringing lines?

MR. MAYERS:  So I won't go into it, if you are familiar with it.  But as far as using a skycrane, no.

MR. BROTT:  Valard has extensively used skycranes, though.  That is one reason why we picked them.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I want to go back to the designation, and I know that not everybody on the panel was part of the designation.  But when I turn back to the designation, am I correct to recollect that there were a number of -- I'm not sure if bids is the right word, but propositions that were put forward, and that yours at NextBridge, or then-UCT, yours was not the lowest cost put forward to the Board.  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And I also recollect this, that none of the propositions pushed over the $500 million mark.  They were basically in the 400 in this, 400 and that and they had development costs.  Is that your recollection, too?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Unfortunately, it would have to be subject to check, but I don't know the prices of each bid.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Garner, just to correct you, you said development costs, but I think you meant construction costs.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That is fine.  Ms. Tidmarsh, I want to ask you about the reporting that you had been doing with the Board as you did work through the development and did this project.

As I understand it, the reporting started with a monthly requirement and then moved to a quarterly requirement, is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it did.  So it was monthly up until the point where the project in-service date was pushed back to quarterly.

And so NextBridge had gone into the Board with our new development cost, our new schedule and milestones, and a request for quarterly reporting.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And at what stage -- because you were doing development costs, at what point did NextBridge come to the realization through its development costs that the project with not going to come in at a cost that was -- I will say even near what the original thought was, it was going to be somewhat more significant?  At what point did that realization dawn on NextBridge?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we -- I think I remember in the development cost hearings and part of our applications for the development costs, the undertakings and the interrogatories, when we closed the bids for the general contractors, we then had an indicative pricing and they were closed bids -- had indicative pricing on what the new cost would be.

And so we reported that cost to our board in April of 2017.

MR. GARNER:  And was that reported to the Energy Board in any of the reporting to the Energy Board?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was not, no.

MR. GARNER:  And why is that?  Why wouldn't you have alerted the Board that in the development process, you had discovered that in fact the costing was going to be significantly different?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the lag time between when we found out our construction cost increase in April and then the filing of the leave to construct in July was only a couple of months.  And so at that point, the filing of the leave to construct then indicated the new construction cost.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  I wonder if Ms. Allman could bring up tab 4 -- I'm sorry, I have a compendium which has not been marked as an exhibit.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark that as Exhibit K6.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.4:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Sorry.  If I can ask Ms. Allman to bring us to tab 4.  This is some information about the operating and maintenance costs of NextBridge, which I don't intend to go into in any detail because, as Member Duff was saying yesterday, no one is seeking in this case approval of their OM&A costs.

But one of the things that did tweak to my mind, and we've asked similar questions of Hydro One, is the relationship, if there are any affiliate relationships that we need to be concerned about.

So under the NextBridge proposal with this OM&A proposal, are there affiliate relationships with any other regulated companies -- I'm thinking Enbridge Gas, in particular -- where there needs to be agreements between NextBridge and the company?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So are you saying things like shared services?

MR. GARNER:  Shared services.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So no, NextBridge intends to do this work as part of -- currently, we haven't had -- as I mentioned, we haven't had this discussion yet because OM&A is part of a different proceeding.  But currently, NextBridge intends to do this work as NextBridge.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So if that is the case, then the Board won't need to be concerned about trying to potentially unravel any relationships and potential costs  transfers between companies?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, not at this time.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I think the next slide I would like to go to -- and it is just a slide and it was only done because it would remind me of this, and it is at tab 3.  It is a picture of a bunch of Supercom people who are either graduating or doing something.

I want to talk to you about that, Ms. Tidmarsh, and the reason is that when I was listening to your discussion with the representative from BZA, you were talking about this group and Supercom and you were explaining how Supercom wasn't part of NextBridge.  They were in fact an Indigenous corporation that you have worked with.

But what I would like to ask you is did NextBridge, as part of this project, cultivate that relationship, cultivated Supercom in order to engage the local community and the Indigenous community to be part of the project?  Was that part of what you did?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did.  And they took it and ran with it.  So as part of our partnership with Bamkushwada, we had originally come up with Supercom.  We wanted to do a separation between the owners of NextBridge and ensuring that there was separation to ensure 18 communities got economic participation.

So we moved off the responsibility from that into Supercom.  And they went ahead and made a relationship, a partnership with Valard, and then they took off with the training and employment partnerships with Confederation College.  They received about $9 million in funding from provincial and government agencies to start the work that they've been doing.

MR. GARNER:  These people, as I understand it, are on the ground, as you have been saying, with boots ready to work if the project goes forward.  Is that the idea?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So they've -- so the training began as a multi-tiered training.  So the training began.  There's about 348 individuals for the first -- made an initial application.

So Supercom worked with them.  They provided -- in some cases, they provided education so that community members to get their GED, like their high school diploma.  In some cases, they provided daycare to ensure people could go to training, addictions counselling.  And so of the initial 348 that made applications, 264 of them went towards tier 1 training with Confederation College.  And then they have moved on since.  There is about 241.  So it is a very good retention rate for northwestern Ontario that have graduated from tier 2 and tier 3.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And the reason I ask these questions is one of the cost differences between yourself and Hydro One is, it seems to me, is in the Indigenous participation and consultation area.  And would you agree with me it is a -- in listening to BZA, it can be a difficult process and somewhat lengthy to build up the relationships and build in the economic participation?  It's been a difficult thing, if not rewarding, as you are suggesting?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, definitely.  So I think in the five years that we have been working with the communities, we have worked on Indigenous participation.  And it is in our agreements -- our partnership agreements are more than just the equity part of it, right?

So equity -- communities are interested in equity, but it is also long-term jobs for the people of their communities, contracting opportunities for the people of their communities.  And so the leadup time for that -- Supercom itself started off as an idea about two years ago with a little bit of employment and training dollars from NextBridge and has, as I mentioned, since taken off, trained so many individuals, started getting a lot of communities ready for competitive procurement processes as well.

So Supercom works with Valard to figure out the amount of contracting that will be offered to Indigenous communities.  And there is a large leadup time to ensure that these communities, some of their businesses are ready for procurement and ready for the process.  So there has been a leadup time.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And notwithstanding all of this effort, you still have had, as we heard with BZA, there's still some outstanding grievances, and people are still not -- not everybody is quite as happy as perhaps you would like to be.  There is still issues out there, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  After five years and 18 communities, I think we've generally got quite a lot of support for the work that we do, and I really hope that we can work through some of these issues as the rubber hits the road and we can start getting people employed and into jobs and get people contracting opportunities as well.

MR. GARNER:  Is there anything that you know of that precludes Supercom from engaging with SNC-Lavalin as opposed to your contractor?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Nothing that I know of.  I know that there is an agreement between Supercom and Valard.  I don't know any of the terms of that agreement between Supercom and Valard, so I would assume that something else would have to be done with SNC.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

My next set of questions I think is for you, Ms. Whillans.  You have been sitting there quietly, so I do have some questions of you.  And they have to do with -- if my tab on -- sorry, let me just see.  It is tab 5.  It is an extract of the -- there's an extract of cross-examination in there.

And there is a Mr. Faye, who I think is supposed to Mr. Fair in that transcript.  And I believe -- and you tell me if I am wrong -- Mr. Fair is your counterpart doing land management and like matters for the project.  Is that your role?

MS. WHILLANS:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  And one thing that struck me in his examination, or maybe it was his in-chief, is that he spoke at some point basically about the idea that Hydro One had certain rules or process and procedures about appropriate land compensation -- I think it was Mr. Murray -- Mr. Murray asking about payment for getting over lands, et cetera.

And the implication seemed to me -- and again, because -- I am exploring this because this is one area where you have higher costs.  The implication seemed to be that somehow NextBridge was loose with the money as opposed to Hydro One, that they were a sterner set of group of people.  Can you comment on that?

MS. WHILLANS:  Certainly.  Just to clarify, are -- the excerpt that you are talking about, is that for the First Nation reserve land crossings?

MR. GARNER:  That's where -- I think that is where it was brought up.  But the conversation was then generally, it seemed to me, to go into the issue about Hydro One having very, I don't know how to put it, long-thought-out ways of dealing with purchasing or compensating for land, and that was basically the types of policies they were following, and they couldn't talk about yours.

The implication left in my mind at least and maybe no one else's was that you were maybe overly generous -- that might be the wrong term, but that is where those costs were arising from.

I just wanted your reaction to that.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I hate to steal her thunder, but --


MR. GARNER:  Well, you shouldn't --


MS. TIDMARSH:  -- not the one who's negotiating the 28.2 permits.  You missed her -- came all the way from Calgary, so it is me that has been negotiating those 28.2 land crossings with both the Michipicoten and with Pays Plat.  And I think the reference was made to the million dollars that is in our O&M budget and the assumption
that -- and I did listen to the interaction -- I think that there is a lot of conversation about Michipicoten.  I don't think Pays Plat was mentioned.

So both Pays Plat and Michipicoten, their reserve crossing permitting costs are included in that OM&A, as well as other Indigenous costs as well.

And so I can see that there is a $200,000 amount that -- I am not sure if that is just for Michipicoten, I am not sure if that is for Michipicoten and for Pays Plat, for both of those communities.  But NextBridge has done an extensive research, used quite a lot of current information and public information about the quantum of costs for 28.2 reserve crossings, and there has been no new reserve crossings for transmission lines in this province for a very long time.

And so the costs that are out there now are for renegotiations or reupping of those costs.  And so this is a brand-new transmission line.  So we have done extensive research, done benchmarking, and we are within a good cost range.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Can I just interject here?  I just want to make it clear that we can't actually compare the costs because we don't know the costs.

So you -- I mean, you take the position that it is subject to, I guess, negotiations, and so you can't break down the $1 million for us to do a comparison --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Right, that's correct.

MS. LONG:  -- so I just alert you to that, that we don't actually have that information to do a comparison.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  And I think because it was part of OM&A we didn't provide a further breakdown because we thought it was part of a different proceeding further down the line, but --


MS. LONG:  Well, I thought I understood your evidence today to be that it was confidential in nature because you were still negotiating.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  And so you didn't want to put that forward.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  So I am just alerting you to that when we talk about the comparison that this Panel can't actually compare because we don't know what those underlying numbers are.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Understood, thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

Before I get to the latter stuff, this afternoon or this morning, it's not clear to me which -- and I think the questions were to you, Mr. Brott.  This was about crossings, and the issue about live versus de-energized crossings.

And you used the term "section 101" if you have to do a live crossing.  I just wanted to understand the issue that you face with Hydro One about these crossings, doing a live or non-live crossing.

Can you explain to me, right now is the proposition to do live crossings?

MR. BROTT:  So we've been negotiating with Hydro One these line crossings, these 15 line crossings, for two-and-a-half years, which, to my experience, I think to our collective experience here, that is a very long time to be negotiating with a utility over crossings on -- you know, we've asked them, from the beginning, for a comprehensive set of requirements that we can go back, meet their requirements with our crossings, and get an approval for, and it seems like every time we turn in a new package more requirements keep popping up, and this has been ongoing for two-and-a-half years.  We have tried to work in good faith with them, but, you know, at some point we're going to have to file a section 101, I think we're there, because I don't see them giving us approval of these crossings.

MR. GARNER:  So please -- maybe I am the only person who doesn't know what section 101 is.  Can you tell me what that is?

MR. BROTT:  It's a -- I'm not a regulatory lawyer, so let me preface it with that.  But it is a request to the Board via a regulatory request to give us permission to cross the Hydro One lines.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And generally as an engineer working at this, what is the general safety issue that occurs and -- I mean, the lines are live, I understand, but what is the general concerns and how are they generally addressed in this type of circumstance in your experience?

MR. BROTT:  So the general concern would be like a flash-over from the live line to anything in proximity to that line.  So really, the mitigation to that is to ensure there's a proper safety plan in place and to make sure everyone keeps the proper clearances as you are pulling the lines over.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MAYERS:  Our towers -- as part of the requirement of HONI, our towers had to be bigger, taller, heavier because there was concerns that, you know, if we were going to cross, that the towers needed to be stronger than -- needed to be strong enough to ensure they didn't fall and that the conductor didn't fall.

So as we were going through this process back and forth, you know, one thing I wanted to make clear is that we're going to be higher than the standard that's necessary.

So our contractor is aware of that.  He has looked at the drawings.  There's clearances that allow you to do live line work and basically having the line below you, they can put up guard structures to ensure that as they're pulling conductor across -- because you have to remember you can set the structures without having to pull the conductor across.  It is really -- we're just talking about the pulling of the conductor.  They can set up guard structures that will prevent the wire from falling.

But the bottom line for us has been that, you know, it is costing an additional five-and-a-half million dollars to do this work.  But we're comfortable that if it comes to that, that we have to file a 101 and we have to cross their lines, that our contractor can do it safely and ensure the reliability of the HONI customers.  But we would prefer to work out an agreement so that we can get the necessary clearances, if required.

MR. BROTT:  I would add as well, if you look at the mapping in the Lake Superior Link operation, their line follows a majority of the same route that we do and they will be required to do the same crossings.

And I am not sure if they're going to have to go through the same rigorous approvals that we -- they're forcing us to go through.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I guess that is one of the issues you seem to have is in competing with your partner, who is also a partner in doing other work with you, crossing and station work eventually.

MR. MAYERS:  It makes it extremely difficult.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, the next area I would like to move on to is at tab 2.  And at tab 2, you have seen this panel and, Ms. Tidmarsh, you have seen it.  I actually provided it also to your counsel earlier because I did want you to be aware that I would be looking at this.

And the reason is, as I explained to your counsel, was that there is -- I understand the purpose of this, but it is also quite an articulate explanation of the differences in the proposals.

And the thing that I wanted to understand looking at it was whether there were changes to this, or whether I could rely on this, at least to see -- understand your view of the major differences between these proposals.

I wonder, first, do you have any changes to it that you would make?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we -- Ms. Walding is actually prepared to go through that with any changes, or a discussion on it.

MS. WALDING:  So to start off with, I think the 35 and a half million, we've had a lot of discussion in that, that that was our estimate at the time of the additional cost that NextBridge has spent above the 40.2.  So I think everybody should be fairly familiar with that.

So going on, the wind-up costs would be what it would be for us to wind-up and finish up all of the activities that we've been doing.  We added some incremental cost for that.

And then the third one is quite interesting.  I think that that has been somewhat misrepresented, because in Mr. Spencer's testimony from day one, he called that a delay would be beneficial -- and that is from the transcript -- to consumers because it would offset the revenue requirement.

So the only way that that could possibly occur is if Hydro One is not ever seeking that first year of revenue requirement.

Otherwise, those delay costs are incremental because Hydro One would still seek the full cost recovery of their project, in addition to the $20 million that consumers might have to pay according to the IESO.

And I also want to note that we did a minimum here and a maximum here, because we wanted to show that if the Hydro One line was pushed out even further, that those costs escalate even quicker through time.

And so our belief is that it will be difficult for the Hydro One line to be in-service by 2021 with the remaining work that they still have to do.  So that is very much a range that could be seen by customers.

Moving on, inflation, you can see on the low range we put zero.  And on the high range, we put that it could be out to 2024, in which there would be more inflation on the cost for Hydro One if their project was pushed out.  And that does not include IDC, additional IDC as well; it is just inflation.

MS. DUFF:  Interest during construction.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, thank you so much.  And then we put the potential cost increase based off the Class 3 AACE, and what we put here is just the difference between actually our very high end of 20 percent versus Hydro One's 30 percent on the high end.  And actually, since the time of publishing this, we have been able to get on the cusp of a Class 1, which is actually a plus 10 percent.  So those numbers would increase, to your question about any updates to this.

So the differential has grown between Hydro One and us in the -- and this is a representation of how far you are into development and the certainty of your costs.

And then the Indigenous participation, the next two, participation was left out completely in the leave to construct for Hydro One.  And so recently they have reallocated dollars out of site clearing into participation.  And so I am not for sure -- I think it is in the range of $18 million, so I am not for sure how you bucket things into site clearing and then later bucket them into participation without increasing costs.  But that is what has happened.  So that is why we put the 7 million and the 3.4 million there on both the low and high end.

Going to consultation, they did have some dollars in consultation in the original.  They had 2.2 million and we thought that that was low.  And so on the high end there we put 12 million.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, Ms. Walding, just to add as well, Indigenous participation to negotiate agreements.  You skipped that one.  That was -- we heard testimony, the cross-examination of the Métis Nation of Ontario and I think we heard that Hydro One had not included any of the costs to negotiate participation agreements as part of their Indigenous participation.

And so I think that those numbers, again, those are -- so the 3.4 that's in there, those are from our development costs of what it took us to negotiate our agreements with the First Nations and the Métis.

MS. WALDING:  And then the routing around Pukaskwa Park; the way that we calculated that 80 million is that we just took what Hydro One's cost was in the 400 kilometres that they're constructing over, and then we added the additional 50 kilometres, and that was the cost that it comes up with.  Hydro One says that is only going to cost them 37 million, even though -- and they talked about how it is a lot cheaper for the sections of going around the park.  But even our estimate of going around the park was $62 million.

So we feel like that's the high range and it is based off the information that has been provided.

And then contingency, and this was just a reflection that the contingency was low at 10 million and that it continues to get lower.  It is now at five million and on the low end, we put that there would be no increase on that, to give Hydro One a benefit of the doubt.  But on the max, we put that there should be -- probably this project would see an increase in contingency as well.

And so, you know, this was called erroneous in the testimony by Hydro One, but we do not believe at all that it was erroneous and we took very careful efforts to go through and to do our best estimation with the information that was provided.  And we believe that it is an accurate range from the low to the high of what that project could see, based on its low development progress.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Is there anything else on that that you would like to comment on?  I have a question.  I just want to let you finish.

MS. WALDING:  No, I think that is it.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, so thank you, that is very helpful.  Now I want you to turn your math -- and, Ms. Walding, it's probably a whole different way of looking at this.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.

MR. GARNER:  And I put this to Hydro One, so to be fair to both sides.

I represent a ratepayer group and from our ratepayer group, it seems to me is ultimately we are just looking at what is the bottom line number.

MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. GARNER:  And what I've heard so far is that in addition to the $40.2 million that you have asked the Board for in recovery of development costs, you have another 34 to the end of September, and roughly 4.5 for months -- you said 1.5 per month, roughly 4.5.  That number works out to roughly $78 million in my math.  Does that sound right to you?

MS. WALDING:  That's right, hmm-hmm.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So it seems to me, if the Board is inclined to give you all $78 million and maybe a $2 million cheque for your time and effort, you have about roughly an $80 million bill that one has to add on to the Hydro One project, because that will be recovered from ratepayers.  Is that the way you see it?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that is the way I see it.

And actually, I do want to make one other correction that I didn't have here -- well, I guess the development costs too.  If Hydro One is to proceed, their development costs would be added to this as well.  So I think that that number is increased now to 640 million.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  We may have to check the record.  I thought that they were absorbing some of the development costs, but I am neither here nor there at this moment on that number, because here's the number I am at.

If I understand what you were saying is that you are quite confident that you can do this project for 777 million plus 10 percent.

MS. WALDING:  737 plus --


MR. GARNER:  Is that what I add the 10 percent to?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  But you've already -- that doesn't include the 40.2 --


MS. WALDING:  The 40.2 is spent, so there is no need to add plus or --


MR. GARNER:  Well, no, I understand -- I understand what you're saying.  I'm just looking at all of the project costs.  I'm trying to say is add up all of your project costs, but it will make a difference in my math, because the 10 percent you're saying is on the 737, right, it is not on the 777.

MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. GARNER:  So my math is going to be wrong, and you can correct it.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.

MR. GARNER:  But the way I was looking at the project is you took your 737 and you added 10 percent, which is $73 million, and you added your $40 million, and you've got a number somewhere in the 800 and probably about $40 million range, because my math is now off.

And I was looking at that $840 million number, and I was saying, well, if you look at Hydro One's -- maybe not-to-exceed price I will call it, because I am not quite sure at the end of the discussion that was had with Hydro One that I really understand what that all comes to, but if I look at that 683, and I say, well, give it to them and then give them your $80 million, I am up to 760.

So roughly speaking, I am like a 90-, $100 million difference.  And quite frankly, what I have to ask myself and my client has to ask myself is:  Why would we want to put ourselves at risk for $100 million?  Why wouldn't it be just better on that presumption that that would go ahead to just pay NextBridge and -- for their time and effort and move on with a project that looks like it is guaranteed for a moment, let's say, at a lower cost.  Why wouldn't that be in the interests of ratepayers?

MS. WALDING:  So the first thing is with your math.  The 40 million is sunk.  I mean, that is spent, and so you can't add that to ours, because it has to be added to Hydro One's number as well, because it is subject to the hearings and the development costs.  So that is the change that I would make first off to your math.

And then secondly, I would add that the cost cap that has been presented and the fixed-cost EPC agreement that has been presented by Hydro One is not in effect a cap.  It -- you know, subject to regulatory and government approvals, which has been pointed out by multiple people before.  And so that is the vast majority of the risks that are left, because of the stage that they are in their development.

So I would be skeptical, pointing out all of these risks that we have pointed out, that that project would even be done at your math, plus our additional 40 million.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So just to add to Ms. Walding's -- and I agree with what she's saying.  I think at this point I think it is risk we have.  NextBridge has a project.  And so we've mentioned this in our opening.  We have a shovel-ready project with cost certainty that is going to be reliable, and we're ready to go.

And so the -- our project has a signed executed EPC contract.  It is ready to go.  And we have participation from Indigenous communities.  We have an environmental assessment that is going to be in our hands by February of 2019.  And so the risk of Hydro One's proposal, I believe, outweighs the reward of NextBridge's shovel-ready cost-certain and reliable project.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. MAYERS:  Might I add --


MR. GARNER:  Go ahead, Mr. --


MR. MAYERS:  Thank you.  Again, HONI, they have a sole-source contract, right?  There is no competition there. It is not executed, as we stated.  It is subject to change up to the day it is signed.  It lacks specificity.  They have not done geotechnical work.  They did desktop analysis.  They have no access plan.  The towers have changed twice.  Who is to say they won't change again, particularly if Parks Canada doesn't like the design, doesn't like the guys that are going to be put into the ground out there.

They have a limited understanding right now of the current EA conditions.  Projects often fail without stakeholder support.  The MTRs, the minimum technical requirements, that we had brought up, you know, we're not sure that they have completed those -- review of those design requirements.

And, you know, the way we looked at it, the MTRs, those were -- that wasn't something you could pick and choose to decide what needed to be done.  So our design incorporates all of those features, and the intent was to build a reliable, cost-effective line.

So when you look at our project, we have done everything that we possibly could to give you that reliable project.  What you have with HONI's case as it stands, you don't have a project.  You are not -- they're not ready to go, regardless of what they say, and hanging everything on poor SNC, to me, is something that should be concerning.

MR. GARNER:  I will return to that quickly, because I do want to wrap up in due course.  But Ms. Walding, I did want to come back to something you said, because I think we're seeing the numbers a bit different, and I just want to make sure the record is clear about how I am proposing this to you.

The 40.2 million you call sunk costs, I understand they're sunk.  So in my modelling, what I am trying to say to you is, if you take those costs and you take your current -- all of your current costs and you recoup them all and have them, let's say that happens, and now all of those costs get in a sense added on to whatever Hydro One's costs are, because they have to be recovered from somebody, so I am taking all of your costs.

And the reason I am actually asking this is, let's suppose for a moment -- I am certainly not suggesting what the Board should or would do -- but let's just suppose for a moment the Board takes a look at the project and says, "Look, this is how we're going to do it.  We are going to give utility A a choice.  You have got a week.  Here is the price you live by.  You can take it.  If you don't take it, we will go over to utility B.  Here is your price.  If you want to take it you can take it."


So if they were to find a calculation that satisfied their need to that, that is the kind of number I am exploring.  I am asking myself where would that number be.  Where does the risk for consumers between these two projects lie and what is the number the Board might end up saying is whoever wants to do it for this and you have first option of saying no and you get second option of saying no.  I am trying to find that number.

So the number I am still back to you with is, those numbers seem to me to be basically in Hydro One's case is, even with all of your costs somewhere in the 765 range, your number is somewhere in the 840 or 850 range, and it doesn't need to be exact, and if this has any bearing on anything, my client will obviously think about whether it is an argument to be made.  But that is what I was trying to put forward to you.  You wouldn't have any argument with the idea of that math that I am trying to explore?

MS. WALDING:  Well, I think we need to probably go back through the math and see how you came up with the numbers then, because I am not for sure I was following those, if you don't mind.

MR. GARNER:  No, not at all, Ms. Walding.  I want to be clear.  I took your 40.2 of development costs.  I took your $34 million of end of September spending.  I gave you four-and-a-half million dollars to spend 'til the end of December.  And that gave me a number, roughly, in the range of $78 million.  I think it is a little bit more, but I am going to just round that number to make it easy, so that's -- because you don't know exactly what those costs are.  That is an $80 million, as you call it, sunk cost.  Sunk.

MS. WALDING:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. GARNER:  So the Board is now dealing with those costs in their mind, let's say, separately and saying that is sunk and that is done, but Hydro One has put forward an appetizing proposal to us, and that appetizing proposal runs at their top line 683.

Let's just say that number actually is true.  So if I add those two numbers together, 80 million and 683, I'm getting somewhere around 763, right?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  So that to me is like the Board is saying, is, "Look, if we took Hydro One and they live by the number that they kind of suggest they could live by, I am at 761."


Now let me go over to NextBridge, because NextBridge says, "We can live by" -- you don't say you can live by.  I understand you're not giving any exceed-to price, but they're saying is, "Look, 10 percent over 737, we're pretty dead certain we can do that."  That is what I'm hearing from you, unless you want to correct that.  So I said, "Okay.  Take 737, add 10 percent."  And then, you know, those costs.  But they don't include your development costs, because that 737 doesn't include your development cost, does it, so I have to add that in to compare it, don't I?

And so if I do that, I think I get a number, and now my math is very confused, but I am sure someone here is keeping track, I get a number in the $850 million range, right.  So the difference between those two numbers gives me roughly a 90 to 100 million dollars, I thought, risk for the consumer depending on which project if that were the scenario.  The consumer is at risk with you by about $100 million.

MS. WALDING:  And that is where I disagree, okay?  If you go back to the Hydro One number and you say that you added -- oh, you added 80 million of our costs, yes, I'm with you now to the 763.  I have that now.  Will you repeat your question for me?

MR. GARNER:  Well, my question is really -- I'm trying to say would you see that as a fair comparison.  The comparison I am giving you is about $761 million versus $850 million for -- at the high end of your project and at the high end of Hydro One's project, which also includes recovery of all of your sunk costs.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So at the risk of doing math in front of groups of people, can we just confer for one second?

MR. GARNER:  Sure.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. WALDING:  After conferring with Ms. Tidmarsh, she has reminded me about the system costs, which that needs to be in addition to the calculations here, because that is something that consumers would pay.  And so your delta between the two would close more.

But to your question about -- I guess you're asking a cap kind of question?  At the end of the day --


MR. GARNER:  What I am really trying to ask myself is what's the real bottom-dollar difference.  I do understand -- I am not sure I understand about the system costs.  I do understand there will be, in your mind, a cost incurred to ratepayers if there's a delay in the project --


MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. GARNER:  -- due to Hydro One, because IESO has said there is going to be a cost to be recovered.

So I do understand that that would also have to be computed, so thank you.  That is something I haven't put forward to you, right?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's right.  And so I think, you know, the main point is that our project is de-risked.  So there is a significant amount of money that is -- that you can put in risk to me, and then getting a project done by 2020.  So that is the main difference that I think would easily close that gap.

As our calculations have shown, is that the Hydro One project is not as developed. So that cost could easily be eaten up and just as an example, just going through the park.  You know, having to go around the park as an example.  And that doesn't even take into account that there will be another year delay at least, or you can take just the environmental assessment and add up the delay cost from that.  Just one factor could easily eat up your gap.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And I am going to try and quickly finish off and I want to return back to, Mr. Mayers, your discussion about this issue.

So we talked about money.  Now I would like to talk a little bit about timing and the issue you have been talking about.

As I understand as I have been listening to people on both sides of this, there was a lot of questions about your reliance on Valard to, you know, do the work it is supposed to do, and I understand that.

But is your point back that there is an awful lot of reliance on SNC-Lavalin in the same fashion that you rely on Valard; is that pretty fair?

MR. MAYERS:  Some of it is, but as I mentioned previously, one of the biggest differences is that we manage the project.

They've got 85 percent of theirs tied up with SNC-Lavalin.  And if you look at that comparison matrix that has been completed, you will find that between -- there is only two touch points really.  There is the design review and then there is -- I think it's provincial -- I believe it is their in-service date.  I think there's only a couple of touch points once they have released it.

So they have SNC looking at everything, while we manage the contract.  We -- we're really good at managing contracts and we help bring value by managing our contracts.  We foresee that as a big deal because, as I've said, I use the analogy is the fox guarding the henhouse.  You are never going to know if you have a problem unless you are on top of things, and our construction management team intends to be out in the field.

We're going to make sure the safety is done, that the quality is done, that all of the environmental mitigations that are required -- I mean, we have been talking about environmental conditions for, you know, a couple of weeks here now, not to mention for months prior to that.

But at the end of the day, there's going to be very specific things that this contractor has to do and he is very good at doing those things.

We're going to be overseeing them because if somebody comes out there, if any one of the regulators comes out or you get any type of inspector that comes out and finds that the contractor has failed in one of his environmental duties, he don't have turbidity up, or something is -- somebody has leaked something into a stream and you don't have oversight over that, then you could have the project shut down.

Once you have a construction work force in the field like we're going to have, we're going to have up to almost 600 people at one time, and if somebody says cease and desist because you've busted the environmental requirement, 600 people on a per-day basis is going to cost millions a day.  Millions while they sit around waiting to be allowed to start again.

I can't emphasize that enough.  We will manage that.  We will be in the field.  We will oversee that.  We take great pride in our company, in both companies, in ensuring that from an environmental perspective, that we respect the environment that we're about to work in.

MR. BROTT:  Can I add from an engineering point of view, when you have the engineering under the contractor's purview as well, on a fixed-price contract that could be, you know, underestimated margins and no oversight, it could be a recipe for disaster.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, and I do understand --


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, there is a limit to the distortions we can listen to.  If you look at K4.2, there are $6 million in project management in the budget of Hydro One.  So the suggestion that there is no oversight is simply wrong.

MR. GARNER:  Well, I am certain Mr. Warren will make that argument.  If I can continue, Madam Chair?

The reason I was really going to this question was really quite simple.  I was looking at the evidence that you were saying is that our money is on Valard and we have experience with them.  Their money is on SNC-Lavalin.  And you've provided, I understand, some evidence of your experience with Valard, that they are a reputable and reliable contractor.  Is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  That's correct.  And their parent company, Quanta, is one of the largest power companies -- is one of the largest contracting companies in North America.  And we do business with them in Florida, in Texas, in California, all throughout.

Again, Valard is -- Valard's primary area is Canada.  But, you know, these groups will share resources dependent on what is necessary between them.

So the mother company, who we spend a lot of time with, they have multiple companies they can draw from, multiple resources, whether it is foundation contractors or clearing contractors, electrical workers.  They're all available, and they can share those resources between each other.

MS. WALDING:  I want to just add real quickly, we had six contractors bid on our project and we initially screened out two of them because they weren't reputable.  So we take that very --


MR. MAYERS:  Actually, we had 11 and we screened it down to five.

MR. GARNER:  So let me pursue that before you go on, because all I was really trying to get to is this point -- and I am certainly not imputing this to SNC-Lavalin in the sense of not being reputable.  But having done that experience, are you aware of any time that, for instance, SNC-Lavalin didn't do a project on time and on budget?  I mean big projects.  A lot of people do them.

MR. MAYERS:  Can we confer for a minute?

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, one of the interrogatories that was asked by NextBridge to Hydro One is about SNC's record, and that was told us that it was confidential.  So NextBridge has no knowledge about SNC's track record and wouldn't opine on it.

MR. GARNER:  Fair enough.  My final question is to you, Ms. Tidmarsh.  How long have you been working on this project?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Five years.

MR. GARNER:  And having worked five years on this project, what, in your opinion, is the likelihood of Hydro One being able to achieve its in-service date by their proposal?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So you are asking for my opinion, and my personal opinion.  And what I will tell you is what I've experienced in the past five years.

MR. GARNER:  Please.

MS. TIDMARSH:  My personal experience.  So in the past five years on this project, I have worked with all the northern municipalities.  I have worked with all of the Indigenous communities that have been part of this project.  I have worked with all of the regulators.  I have actually driven 450 kilometres in a day to try and make meetings during moose season quite a few times, delivered our terms of reference in minus 40 degrees at the back of a pickup truck.  There is a lot of experience that I have had in the region, and I know all of the people at the MNRF offices up there.  I know them at the MOECC office here and up there as well.  I know how much information that they're looking for on this project and what type of permits that they're looking for and all of the information that is required.

I have also had meetings personally with the 18 communities, members of all of the 18 communities.  I have been there, had conversations with them, and heard how they are looking for participation, meaningful participation, and I know that they want to be part of this project.  They want jobs, they want contracting, and the leadup to ensure that that happens is vitally important to the people up there.

I have also been in all of our open houses that we've had.  So I have been to every single one of those open houses and met the public, met all of the landowners, spoke to people who we have been dealing with landowner agreements not only for just the right-of-way but all of the access plan work as well, all of that work that had to be done, and the good-faith negotiations that we have had with all of those people, and we have done that all for five years.

Also, I can talk about our construction, and I have met with Valard and felt how -- how excited they are about this project, to ensure -- and they have met all of the Indigenous communities as part of this project, and they have met the landowners.  We have had them out on our open houses and the municipalities, and every time they come to town how excited they are to ensure that they can get these agreements done.

And those strong relationships and all of that information that we've gathered over the past five years has meant that we're shovel-ready.  We are ready to go, and we will get this project done, and we have so much support from the regulators and from communities to make sure this happens.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, panel.

Madam Chair, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

We will stop for today and start again tomorrow morning at 9:30 with Board Staff.  And then the Panel will have some questions, and then we will allow for redirect.

I understand that MOECP is not available until 12:30.  Am I correct?

MR. MURRAY:  That is correct.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So we're going to start at 9:30 just to be sure that we get through everything, and then we may take an early lunch break so that we're back ready to go at 12:30.  So for people listening in, if they're just wanting to be here for MOECP, they should be aware that it will be 12:30.  Okay, thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:41 p.m.
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